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GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT EMPORIKI BANK

Emporiki Bank was established in 1907 and its head-office is located at 11 Sophocleous Street, in
the Municipality of Athens. Its operation is governed by the provisions of Law 2190/1920
concerning Société Anonyme companies and by the provisions of the specific laws on credit
institutions (S.A. Registration No. 6064/06/B/86/03).

The Bank’s business name in Greek is «EMMOPIKH TPAMEZA THX EAANAAOZ A.E.»
(«kEMPORIKI TRAPEZA TIS ELLADOS S.A.»). For transactions abroad, the name «EMPORIKI
BANK OF GREECE S.A.» is used in the English language. In the case of texts in languages other
than Greek, the Bank’s business name is written either as an exact translation into the other
language or is written in latin characters. The Bank’s distinctive title is «kEMIMOPIKH TPAMNEZA»
(«<EMPORIKI TRAPEZA») and in the foreign language «Emporiki Bank» both within Greece and
abroad.

By decision of its Board of Directors, the Bank may establish branches, agencies and
representative offices anywhere in Greece and abroad, duly conforming to the legal formalities.
According to Article 4 of its Articles of Association, the Bank conducts in Greece and abroad, on
its own behalf and on behalf of third parties, or in cooperation or association with other legal or
natural persons of any nationality, all banking and financial operations permitted by law, as in force
each time, to banking sociétés anonymes.

On 11.3.2005, the Greek Ministry of Develompent approved the decision of the Repeat General
Meeting of the Emporiki Bank’s Shareholders of 26.10.2004 regarding amendment of Article 4 of
the Bank’s Articles of Association, for the purpose of also including factoring activities in the Bank’s
business purposes, in the context of the merger by absorption of Emporiki Bank with its subsidiary
«Emporiki Factoring S.A.».

The relative majority of the Bank’s shares belongs to public legal entities and the company has
been listed on the Athens Stock Exchange since April 8, 1909. In April 1999, the Bank transferred
51% of its share participation in lonian Bank to Alpha Credit Bank (known today as Alpha Bank).
In June 2000, Emporiki Bank signed a cooperation memorandum with the French bank Crédit
Agricole. The Emporiki Bank Group transferred a package of Emporiki Bank shares,
corresponding to 6.7% of the Bank’s share capital, to Crédit Agricole. In May 2002, Crédit Agricole
increased its participation in Emporiki Bank by exercising its right of first refusal regarding the
Bank's shares held by the Deposits and Loans Fund. On 31.12.2005, Crédit Agricole’s
participation in the share capital of Emporiki Bank stood at 8.838%. In addition, Crédit Agricole
also held the voting rights through its participation of 1.751% in the Special Purpose Vehicle
Aegean Finance S.A. Through its strategic alliance with Crédit Agricole, new companies have
been established in various areas of activity within the financial sector.

Emporiki Bank offers a wide range of traditional and modern banking products and services,
meeting the savings, financing and investment needs of its clientele. At the end of 2005, the Bank’s
assets stood at EUR 19,088 million, equity amounted to EUR 1,039 million and liabilities to
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customers stood at EUR 14,811 million. The Bank recorded pre-tax profit of EUR 115.3 million at
the end of 2005.

At the end of 2005, Emporiki Bank operated in Greece with a network of 373 branches and
6,377 employees. During 2005, the Bank’s branch network restructuring continued with the aim
of expanding the Bank’s presence in selected locations throughout the country. At the same
time, and with a view to curtailing operating costs, branch mergers and relocations were also
continued.

Emporiki Bank is active in the Balkan countries and in southeastern Europe. At the end of 2005,
the Bank was present through subsidiary banks in Romania (6 branches and 1 office), Bulgaria (7
branches), Albania (3 branches) and Cyprus (12 branches). The Bank was also present in
Germany (3 branches and 1 point of sale). The Bank also had a branch in London.

During 2005, as part of the efforts undertaken to rationalise its network abroad, the Bank sold
subsidiary banks in Georgia and in Armenia. More specifically, the sale and transfer of all of the
shares held by the Bank (100%) in its subsidiary «Emporiki Bank-Armenia CJSC» was concluded
on 24.5.2005, in the amount of USD 3,100,000. In addition, the sale and transfer of all of the
shares held by the Bank in its subsidiary «Emporiki Bank-Georgia S.A.» (6,963,456 shares or
86.11%) was concluded on 28.12.2005.

Emporiki Bank has established a Euro Medium Term Note (ETMN) Programme in the total amount
of EUR 2 billion. During 2004, the Bank through its subsidiary, Emporiki Group Finance PLC
issued a subordinated bond loan with a nominal value of EUR 350 million and a senior debt bond
loan with a nominal value of EUR 400 million. During 2005, no issues of bond loans under the
Programme took place.

In 2004, Emporiki Bank established the subsidiary company Emporiki Funding Limited, with the
purpose of issuing innovative titles (Hybrid Tier | Funds) up to a total amount of EUR 200 million.
By the end of 2005, no titles had been issued.

On 24.3.2005, following the approval of the Ministry of Development, the merger by absorption of
Emporiki Bank with its wholly-owned subsidiaries «Cadmus Investments and Consulting Services
S.A.», «Cadmus Investment Initiatives S.A.», and «Cadmus Business Enterprises S.A.» was
concluded.

As required by International Accounting Standards, the representation of the Bank’s insurance
liabilities to TEAPETE (the Auxiliary Pension Fund of Emporiki Bank) in its balance sheet resulted
in the reduction of shareholders’s equity. Thus, the improvement of the Bank’s capital adequacy
became a priority objective in 2005. For this purpose, on 25.7.2005, the accelerated book building
procedure was used to effect the sale of all of the Bank’s treasury shares (5,478,264 shares
representing 5.2% of the share capital) at EUR 26.40 per share. The proceeds amounted to EUR
145 million. In addition, the Bank proceeded to increase its share capital by means of contribution
in cash in the total amount of EUR 397,174,410 raised through the issue and public offer an
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26,478,294 new, ordinary registered voting shares of the Bank in dematerialised form, with a par
value of EUR 5.50 per share and an offer price of EUR 15 per share, at a ratio of 5 new shares
for every 20 existing shares. The share capital increase was completed on 21.12.2005.

The Emporiki Bank Group is one of the most modern groups operating in the financial sector and
has a dynamic presence in the following areas: leasing, insurance, bancassurance, asset
management for institutional investors, mutual fund management, real estate property
development and management, consumer credit. Crédit Agricole, the Bank’s strategic partner, is
significantly involved in the activities of the Emporiki Group companies in the areas of
bancassurance, asset management for institutional investors, mutual fund management and
consumer credit.

At the end of 2005, Group assets amounted to EUR 20,018 million, equity was EUR 1,072 million

and liabilities due to customers amounted to EUR 14,929 million. Group profit (before tax and
minority rights) was EUR 114.6 million at the end of 2005.
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EMPORIKI BANK SA
DIRECTORS” REPORT

2003 HIGHLIGHTS
The main positive aspects of 2005 performance are:

+ Continuous progress in retail banking
Following a period of strikes, growth in the fourth quarter recovered at satisfactory levels, where
disbursements of moitgages and consumer loans rose to €402.9m and €273.8m respectively.
Meanwhile, Credicom’s disbursements surged to €215.6m, while 5,445 bancassurance contracts were
sold.
+ Significant decrease of operating expenses
&ctions to reduce operating expenses bear fruits, as total operating expenses dropped by 19.9%%
versus 2004 at group level,
*  Group restructuring
During 2005 the disposal of the subsidiaries in &menia and Georgia was completed, while in first
quarter of 2006 the participation in Mediafon was disposed of and the merger of Ermis Mutual Funds
and Empariki Asset Management was decided.
# Resolution of pension issue
The completion of all the relevant steps towards the resclution of the pension issue and the
confirmation of pension deficit for the inclusion to the Law 3371/2005 at €1,156m has the following
impact to consalidated results:
o Shareholders’ equity
The shareholders” equity is reduced by €735,3m {pre-tax] and subsequently enhanced by
deferred tax assats of £196.6m. Hence, shareholders” equity stands at €1,087.2m.
= Income Statement
Emporiki will cease contributing the annual extraordimary contribution to TEAPETE (€65m for
20057 Instead. the Bank will pay a contribution, which is estimated at €25m in the first year of
application. Moreower, for the outstanding amourt towards the state-sponsored pension funds
(E735.3m), Emporiki will bear an interast charge of €27.8m for 2005, as it was not possible o
make the relevant payments during the year.

Earnings before tax of the Group have been negatively affected by

# Phoenix has a €10.7m adverse impact
In spite of the significant progress in Phoenix restructuring programme, which mainly focuses on a
selective undarwiiting policy and cost cutting, the insurance company posted losses of €11.9m in
2005, compared with €42.2m losses in 2004, Taking into account the subsidiary’s resbructuring
efforts, and the industiy's positive prospects, Emporiki retained an international finandal advisor to
consider alternative plans,

# Phosphoric Fertilizer Industry (VFL) has a €6.5m adverse impact
VFL is a non-core asset, where Emporiki holds a 44% stake, At the 10.01.2006 extraocrdinary general
assambly a restructuring plan was approved o restructure the asset in the medium term.

*#  Emiporiki Cyprus has a €3.9m adverse impact
Duwring 2005, negotiations to sell the Cypriot subsidiary did mot conclude.

+  Additional €6.2m taxes were charged due to tax assessments of previous years
Tax audits in Ermis Mutual Funds and Emporiki Leasing led to additional tax charges.

&ll the above led consclidated sarnings before tax to £114.6m, i.e. close to the Bank's level of sarnings
before tax {115.3m), evidently afected by the negative development in the aforementioned subsidiaries.
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FINAL RESOLUTION OF THE PENSTOMN ISSUE

Following the enactment of Law 33712005 cowvering the barnking sedhor pension plans, Emporiki
expressed its interest in including the Bank's personnel inko the provisions of the Law, Pursuant to a
request by the Public Enterprise of Transferable Securities (DEXA), Empariki's 9% sharehclder, an
extraordinary general meeting was called on &ugust 16, 2005 that decided the termination on behalf of
the Bank of the agreement with TEAPETE {Emporiki's auxiliary pension fund) and the application to ETAT
(stake-run auxiliary fund for bank employvees) for indusion of Empaniki's employess,

We note that the Bank, making use of the relevant provisions of Law 3371/2005, recognised in its inberim
financial statements the estimated cost of the indusion of its personnel to the provisions of the Law, The
initial estimate was €1.108 m., of which €712m was charged against shareholders’ eguity.

Subsaquently, the Ministry of Ecomomy and Finance commissioned the compilation of a special economic
study by an intemational independent actusiy to finalise the cost from the inclusion of Emporiki’s
personnel to ETAT, According to the study, that has been recently confimed by Law, the cost amounts
fo €1,156m, with €773.6m referring to ETEAM, and €377.3m referring to ETAT.

Pursuant to the above, and considering that the final cost for the inclusion of Emporiki's personnel in the
provisions of Law 33712005 was higher than the initial estimate, a restatement of the IFRS transition
balance sheet was conducted resulbing in a reduction of shareholders’ equity of £107.5m. The reduction
of sharshaolders” equity represents a €75m reduction, net of taxes, in relation to the pansion fund and a
furthar €32.5m raferring to past years, mainly for loans and advances to customers,

PRIVATISATION: THE FINAL STEP

Following the relevant decision of the Government Committes for the commencement of Emporiki’s
privatisation process, and the appointment of Citigroup as advisor to the State, Empaoniki intends to hire
an intermational financial advisor fo assist the Management in its effort fo maximise the value for all its
sharehclders,

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General Assembly to distribute no dividend for the
fiscal year 2005, Thereupon, the recenty voted legislative amendment for the pension issue, €786.3m
will burden net asset value, e, approximately €75m maore than initially calculated, shaping Tier T ratio at
£.6%. The Management has as priciity to maintain its shareholders’ funds at current levels, so as to
have an adequate base to increase its capital theough hybrid capital and subordinate debt. Moreover, the
management will propose the cancellation of losses, derived due to the first time application of IFRS,
against reserves in crder to be in a position to distibute dividend for the fiscal year 2006 and secure
relevant tax benefits,

RESULTS 2005

In 2005, earnings after tax rose to €76m compared with £104m losses in 2004, Despite the
obstructions related with strikes for the pension issue, profitability significantly improved, due to the
gradual increase of the main categories of operating income and the noticeable decreass of operating
expenses. Carnings before tax stood at €114.6m from €94m losses a year earlier,

Met interest income increased by 5£.6% to €609.9m, whare €27.2m represented an interest sxpense
relating to the €735.2m amount due towards pension funds. Adjusted for this expenss, net interest
income would stand at €637.7m, 11.4% higher compared to 2004, reflecting the shift in the composition
of the loan book towards consumer and mortgages, which represent 409 of the Bank’s tofal loan beook
versus 35% in Decembser 2004,

Fee and commission income increased by £.4% to €146m reflecting mainly the increase in loan
disbursements.
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Net income from insurance operations was shaped at £15.9m, showing a 44.9% decreass, This
decline is mainly attributed to the restructuring efforts of Phoenix in the motor business, where its
selective underwriting policy led to a decrease in production but also to a rise in claims in motor third
party liability. Meaningful progress was also evident in renegotiating terms of investment contracks
(DAF).

Trading results stood at €13.6m in 2005 wversus €32.8m in 2004, Met gains from investment
securities increased to €7.1m from £25.7m losses a year earlier,

The 19.5% decrease in operating expenses, is mainly aftributed to the successful implementation of
the Group's restruchuring programme.  Cost to income improved significantly as it was shaped at 71%
compared with 93,1% in 2004,

Staff expenses decreased by 21.6% as a result of the voluntary retirement schemes applied to the
Group, as also the voluntary retirement of Bank employess that had reached TEAPETEs retirement age.
Group's personnel stood at 7,657 in December 2005, 5% {392 employees) lower than December 2004,
The resolution of the pension issue has significantly contributed to the decrease of staff expenses, as the
Zank has ceased paying the extraordinary payment to TEAPETE, which has been replaced by annual
contributions of €25m.

Other operating expenses recorded a 17.6% decrease om an annuzl basis, meflecting the
materialisation of specific actions, introduced in the last 1B menths, to rationalise the cost base in the
entire Group, despite that produdion related expenses continued to grow.

BALANCE SHEET 200%

The Bank loan book reached €15.4bn in December 2005 compared with €13.5bn in December 2004,
marking a 14.5% increase, This performance is satisfactory, taking into account the adverse effect of the
strikes, but also the mass exit of personnel during the year, Moitgages and consumer loans, jointly
representing approximately 40% of the Bank's loan portfolic, constitute the main growth driving areas.

In 2005, the annual increase of mortgages in the Bank stood at 24.7%, while new disbursements rose
to €1,239.1m, of which €402.9m was generated during fourth-quarter 2005, In consumer lending the
annual growth rake for the Bank stood at 13.7%, with new disbursements at €669,1m, shaping tokal
consumer loans at €1.5bn.  Consumer loans with pre-notations, branded wnder Cash 4U, rose to
€24B.6m. Credicom demonstrated significant expansion in 2005, as its loan outstandings reached
€287.2m at the end of 2005. Credicom operates exclusively through retailers ™ nebtworks covering in that
way ane of the fastest growing segments in the consumer credit market, Taking under consideration
consumer loans of the Bank and Credicom, Empariki increasaed its market share in consumer lending.

Loans to small and medium enterprises {SMEs] increased by 10.5% in 2005, with their outstandings
reaching €4.8bn. The growth of this loan category accelerated in the fourth quarter of 2003, as the Bank
applied a sales performance program in its network for the promotion of "Easy Business", a new category
of standardized loans to SMEs,

Non-performing loans represerted 5.7% of the total loams in December Z005, showing an
improvement compared with September 2005 [5.9%%), as the application of "early collection” to SMEs has
propary molled out, Provisions covered 74%0 of non-performing loans at the end of December 2005,

Bank deposits were shaped at €14.7bn, increasing marginally on an annual basis. Time deposits rose
by 14%, offsetting the decrease of £1.1bn [-93.9%%) moted in repos, and represent 35,4% of total, Sight
and savings deposits, £4.5% of the total deposit bass, showed a 6.5% increase o €9.5bn.  The
successful launching of the new salary account and the acguisition of new SME clients based on the “Easy
Business” products enhanced sight accounts. Assets under management approached €2.3bn, showing a
net increase of €245m year-on-year, which is expected to be further enhanced, as the Bank launched its
new investment product "Advantage”. Loans exceeded deposits, as the loan to deposit ratio was formed
at 104.58% in December 2005 versus $2.3% last year.
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Shareholders” funds reached €1,087.2m in 2005, following the €357m share capital increase
completed by the year-end, and the disposal of the Bank’s treasury shares in July 2005, which added
approximately €145m to shareholders’ funds, Tier 1 and total capital adeguacy ratios are estimated at
£.6% and B.5% respectively at end of December 2005,

Athens, 30 March 2008
Chairman,
Board of Diractors
GEORGE PROVOPOULOS
It is cerfified that the above Directors’ report, which consists of five pages, is the one menticned in our

review report dated 30 March 2005,

Athens, 30 March 2008
THE CERTIFIED AUDITORS ACCOUNTANTS

PriceWaterhouseCoopers 5.4,

Goukis ¥, Vassilios Papageorgiou P. Antonios
AM SOEL 10411 AM S0EL 11691
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Auditors’ Beport
( Translated from the original in Greek)

To the Shareholders of Emporiki Bank of Greece S.A

We have andited the accompanying balance sheet of Emponk: Bank of Greece 5 A
{the "Company”) as of 31 December 2005 and the related statements of mcome, cash
flows and changes in sharehelders™ equoty for the year ended 31 December 2003, These
financial statements set out on pages 3 to 55 are the responsibility of the Company's
nmnagement. Our responsibality 13 to express an opimon on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our andit m accordance with Greek Andinng Standards, which conforms
to Intemnational Standards on Aunditing. Those Standards requure that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain regsonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of matenal musstatement. An audit mcludes exanuning, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amoumnts and disclosures i the financial statements. An audit
also mncludes assessing the accounting principles used and sipmficant estimates made
by the management, as well as evaluanng the everall financial statement presentanon.
We zlso assessed the consistency of the mformation mncluded 1n the Directors” Report.
We believe that our audit provides a reasenable basis for our opimon.

In our opimon, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, m all matenal
respects, the financial postien of the Company as of 31 December 2005, and the results
of 1ts operations and 1ts cash flows for the year then ended m accordance with
Intermational Financial Beporiing Standards as adopted by the European Union and the
mformation 1ncluded m the Diectors’ Feport 13 consistent with the fmancial
statements.

Without qualifymg ouwr opimion, we draw attention to (a) note 34 of the financial
statemients with respect to the accounting treatment that the Company adopted
relation to the habality ansing from the adopiion and mmplementation of Law 33712005
(Social Secunty Regulation of Banking Institutions) and (b) note 43 of the financial
statements, with respect to the modifications made on the published mtenm financial
statemnents as a result of the completion of first ime adoption of IFES.

Athens. 30 March 2004
THE CERTIFIED AUDITORS ACCOUNWNTANTS

PRICEWATERHOUSECCOOPERS

outis X, Vaszsihos FPapageorgion P. Antomos

AMSOEL 10411 AM SOEL 11691
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Incoms Statement

Interest & simelar income
Interest axpense & similar charzes
Net interest income

Fee & commission mncome
Fee & commission expenss
Net fee & commizsion incoms

Dhvidend mncome

et trading results

Gains less losses from mvestment
sacurlties

Oher operzting mmcoms

Net operating income

Staff costs

Depreciation & amorfization
Impaimment losses on leans and other
racarvables

Other operating sxpenszes

Total operating expenses

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expence

PROFIT AFTER TAX

Bazie sarmings per shara (m Eura)

10

11

12

13

|
14

15

1 January- 1 January-
31 December 2005 31 December 2004

905.521 B16.507

[341.225) (2E1.25E)

564,206 £35.149

153807 138.313

(12.245) (11.888)

141.562 126.447

2080 4430

4.041 15442

2.580 (67.038)

11.508 15723

716,047 633157

(321.031) (396 688

(24.124) (29.953)
(112.843) (133.351)
(152.704) (151.447)
(610.704) (T11.432)

115343 (78.175)

(27.276) (15.996)

58,067 (54.171)
0,52 (1,16)

Motes on pages 21te 67 foamn an mntegral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

Note 3l December 2005 31 December 2004
ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank 17 670851 607,736
Treasuy bills 1% 27T
Die from banks 15 1.445615 1.101.278
Trading secunties 1% B20a.117 1.824123
Deertvatrve financial instrments 0 33.621 249
Loans and advances fo customers o | 14767004 12,845 838
Available-for-sale securities Py T0.381 T0.0045
Inrestments m subsidiaries 23 264 199 245 243
Imrestments 1 zssoctates 23 22 489 22 489
Infangible aszats 4 11.198 15425
Property, plant and equipment 25 305854 314082
Irrrestment proparty X6 o722 103.768
Defamrad tax assets 33 240056 268983
Income tax advance 3.096 16.5906
Other assets X7 330.394 317130
TOTAL ASSETS 19.087.516 17.521.062
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Dhie to other banks 15 1.213.50% 755172
Dreravatrve financial instnmeents 20 21876 51024
Dhie to customers 19 14 810.624 14.695.105
Dbt secunties in 1550 30 390 327 398.853
Crther borrowad fods 3l 348610 3458082
Dhie to Siate pension fund 34 T86.327 T86.327
Persome] indemmities 47% 452
Croarent fax labilities 6600 8453
Defarvad tax Lizbihitias 33 1.544 2296
Other liabilitias 32 450 835 391874
TOTAL LIABILITIES 15.048.540 17.439.628
Equity
Share Capital k1] T28.153 485 435
Share premuvim 371.497 272183
Treasuwy shares 36 - (B3935
Orther reservas 37 678.063 675120
Accumulated deficit (327.104) (335.208)
Easults for the vear 25.047 (24,1711
TOTAL EQUITY 1.038.676 411.424
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 19.057.516 17.521.062

Motes on pages 2 to 67 fovmo an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Balance az at 1 Japuary 2004 (as it has
been ongimally published m mfenm
financizl statemeants)

Adpmstments (note 437

Eestated balance as at 1 January 2004
Availabla-for-sale valuation

Loss for the vear

Prior year (2003 dividends

Other 2003 appropriations

Mergar by abzoaption

Balance as at 31 December 2004

Balance az at 1 January 2005 (as it has
been ongimally published m mfenm
financizl statemants)

Admstments (note 43

Eesztated balance as at 1 January 2005
Available-for-sale valuation

Prodt for the year

Share Capital increase through
capttalization of 1eserves

Sale of reasmy shares

Share capital increase

Balance as at 31 December 2005

Share Share  Treasury  Other Accumulated

capital premium  shares reserves deficit TOTAL
419658  ITR.A9I  (85.93:5) 642.921 (699.854) 561.162
- - - - (L7 5045 (107 5047
419658  ITR.A0I  (85.93%5) 642.921 (507.3588) 454.658
- - 25E4 - 2584
- - - (B4 171 (941710
- - - (40683 (406383
- 14270 (14352 [ 82}
3ETTT (6205 - 15.335 24215 ES.11E
485,435 ITI183  (B5.935) 675.120 (932,379 411434
485,438 ITILI1R3  (BR.O3E) 675.120 (824.878) 5189218
- - - (L7504 (107 504
435,435  ITI183 (B8535 675.120 (932.379) 411424
- - - 1327 459 T8

- E3.067  BE.O0&T
97087 (148463 - (1B G077 (1450
- - B8535 5466 42000 141401
145631 245777 - - - 391408
T18.153 371497 - BTR.063 (735,037 1.038.676

Motes on pages 21to 67 fonm an integral part of these financizl statements.
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Cash Flow Statement

Cash flows from operating actvities
Pradfit/ (loss) afier tax

:n:!ml:lu

DEpreaaa-:-n and amartization

Impaimreent losses on imvestment securibas
Impainment losses on loars and other receivables

Mat (IncTazse)’ decrease of opembne assels
Obliparory depesits to Bark of Gresce

Thue from other hanks

Tradicg seoumtes (less government bonds)
Dienvanve finamcial insmaments {assets)

Loans apd advarces to custommers (net o writz-pifs)
Dieferred tax assefs

Oithar asseis

Thue to othar banks

Denvadve financial instruments {Labilites)
Thee to customers

Current tax Labdities

Diefemred tax Habilides

Other labilites (pet of Impairment losses oo panticipaiions)

Perspnmel indermities

Total cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Increaze of partciparions in sabsidiasias
Increase of participations @n associates

et change in property. plapt and equipment. infangible assers and ipvesiment propery

Mat change in avallable-for-sale Imvesmments
Total cash flows from investng achvities

Cash flows from financing acovities

Tax oo share cagital increase

Proceeds from sale of owr shares

Procesds from share capital increase
Payment of 2003 dividaed

Procesds from tssuance of subordmared dabs
Total cash flows from financial activities

Net increaset{decrease) in cath and cash equivalents

Cash apd cash equivalents, at begicning of period {Mote 383

Mer inrrease in cash and cash equivalents due to merzar

Caszh and cash equivalents, at end of period (Mote 35)

Motes on pages 20 to 67 form
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mitegral

1 January — 1 January -
31 December 2005 31 December 2004

8047 (84171

24124 20052

- 63,505

112845 131,351

136,060 2131.800

D711 (142 380

{3024} JLETD

300.715 278797

(33371} (108

(2034010 {1209 4600

161 :'" 4113

{13265 132

(1734207 (1.247.938)

458 318 (4703540

(31048} (23.187T)

113514 253420

11338 {2171

{751} 1184

107 168 173,382

X7 451

681210 12884

(343.051) (=06.414)

(537.120 212837

- {1135

{3514} {49201

T4 (3603

{55.193) 150,308
{1450
121401

391 408 -

- (40,683

- 44,562

531350 06179

(371885 260.573

2733812 2472 367

ras10ay 1731871

of  these fnancial  statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. General information

Emporiki Bank ("Emporiki Bank" or the “Bank™) operates in all banking activities (1etail, corporate) as well
az in imvestment banking, asset management, portfolio management and in generval fimancial services. The
Bauk's registered office 13 at 1] Sofocleous 5tr. and s registration number as “Sociste Anomyme™ s
a0e40eBE603. The Bank offers services in Oeece through its metwork of 372 branche: and abroad
through its branches in London as well as through 1tz subsidiaries mn Germany, Cyprusz, Bulgana, Albamia,
and Eomania.

Emporiki Bank was established m Greece 1n 1907 and its shares are listed in the Athens 5tock Exchangs
from 1909, The share of Emperiki Bank 15 included in the Athens General Index and in the FTSE 20.

Itz web site address 1= wanw smporiki. gr.

The members of the Board of Directors, after the Anmual General Meeting held on 25 April 2005, are the

following:

Executive membears

Creorgios Provopoulos Chaimuan and Managmg Director

Lecuodas Zonnios reneral Manager

Micolaos hipes Ceneral Manager

Fokion Demakakos hiember

Chrstos Bratzizkos hember

Mon-executive members

Bearmard Drewent hember

Jean-Luc Pemron hember

Demetrios Prokopioa hember

Toammis Fotopoulos Member

Panawotis Tszkos hember

Independent non-execuiive members

Denmetrios Krontiras Member

Marganta Zoulovits Member

Micolaos Embeoglou hember
The Board of Directors approved thase finaneial statemeanis o1
30 March 2006,

1. Summary of sigunificant accounting policies

The principal accouiing policies applied in the preparation of these fnancial sfatements are sat out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

Emporiki Bank financizl statements as at 31 December 2005 have besn prepared m accordance with
International Finaucial Feporting Standards (JFES), wluch have been adopted by the Buwropean Umdeon, and
those Standards and Inferpretations approved by the International Accounting Sfandards Beard. In particular,
IFES 1 15 applied since, the period ending at 31 December 2005, 15 the first IFES anuual reporting period.
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The accountmg policies applied for all the periods that are presented in thess financial statements, ave disclosed
separately below. The Bank early adopied, from 1 Jamwary 2004, IAS 32revised) “Tinancial Insthuments:
Dizelosure and Presentation” and [AS 3%evized) “Tinancial Instnuments: Becogmition and Measurement”. The
policies applied regavdmg the fimancial mstuments for the pertods of 2004 and 2002 are disclosed, separately,
below.

The bauk 15 going o apply, the following newly issued Standards, amendments or Interpretations, which ave
relevant to its operations and will become effective for periods beginmng on or after 1 Jamuary 2006:

#1A5% 19 (Amendment) “Emploves Benefits”

#1455 39 (Amendment) “Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intra-group Transactions™
#1A% 39 and IFES 4 (Amendment) “Financial Guarantes Confracts™

#[FES 7 “Fmancial Instruments: Dizclosures”

#[FEIC 4 “Determining whether an Anmangement contains a Laaze™

The financizl statements are presented in Euro, the Bank's functionzl cwrency, mounded to the neavest thousand
unless otherwize indicated.

The Bank's financizl statements were prepared in zccordance with Greek Genevally Accepted Accounting
Principles (Greek GAAF) unti] 31 December 2004, Greek GAAP differs in some areas from IFES. In preparing
the Bank’s ammual financizl stzfements, menagement has zmended certam zccounding, valuation and
consolidation methods applied in the Greek GAAP financizl statements fo comply with IFES. The comparative
figures m respect of 2004 ware restated to reflect these adjustments,

Feconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition from Greek GAAP o [FES on the Bank's equity

and itz net income and cash flows are provided m Wots 3.

These anmmal fimancial statements have besn prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of zvailable-for-zale financizl assets, and fmancial assets and Snencial lhabilities (ncluding
derivative mstruments) at fair value dwough profit or loss.

The preparation of fimancial statements n zccordance with IFES requires the use of certain cntical accouniing
estimates. Iz also requires management to exercize udgment m the process of applying the Bank's accounting
policias,

1.1 Foreizgn currency tranzlation

(a) Punctionzl and presentation cwtency
The fmancial statements are presenfed in the fimctionzl and presentation cwrency of the Bank, the
Ewre.

&) Transactions and balances
Forelgn cwrency transactions ave franslated mido the functional cwrenecy using the exchange rates
pravailing at the dates of the tramsactions. Foreign exchange gams and losses resuliing from the
settlemment of such fanszetions and from the franslafion at vear-end sxchange rates of monstary assets
and Labilities denorunated in foreizn cwrencies zve recoguized in the mcome statement. Tramslation
differenices on monstary ttems, such as squities included in the tradmgz portfolic ave reported as part of
the fair value zam or loss. Translation differences on monetary fems, such as equities clazsified as
avatlable-for-zale financial asseis, are included m the fair value adjusiment reserve az of 1 January

2004
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1.3 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Bank uses dermvative financizl mstuments sither for hedging purposes or for trading purposes and on
behalf of customsers. The Bank uses the following derivatives: OTC and exchange taded opiions, fuhures,
interast rate and cwmrency swaps and forwards.

Derrvatives are metially recognizad at acguisition cost on the date on which a devivative confract 1= entared into
and are subssquently re-measured zt thewr fair value., Fair valuss are obizined from quoted marke! prices m
active marketz. meluding recent market tanszetions, and valuztien feclmigues, if market prices are mnot
avatlable. Changes mn the fair value of dertvatives ave recogmozed in the meoome statemeant.

The Bank designates certam derivatives zs either hedges of the fair values of recogmized assets or hiabilifies or
firm commutmeants (fair value hedze) or, hedzes of highly probable furme cash flows athibutable to a
ecoguized asset or lability, or a forecasted tramsaction (rash fow hedge) or hedges for 2 net investment in a
foreizn subsidiary.

The Bank documents, at the inception of the fansaction, the relationship between hedging mstruments and
hedzed iftems, as well 22 115 113k managsment objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
The Bank alse documents itz zssessment, both af hedge incepiion and on an ongeoing basis, of whether the
derivatives that are used in hedping transzctions are highly effective m offzstting changes in fair values or cash
flows of hedged tems,

1.4 Interest income and expense

Interest meome and expense are recognized in the meome statement for all metroments mezswred a2t amortized
cost using the effective nferest methed, faking mito zccount all fees and commuszions paid or recerved befween
parties to the fnancizl aszet or expense over the points paid or received betwean parties to the confizct. [nterest
and similar income meludss nterest meome from loans and advances fo oustonzers, mierest meome from fixed
and floatmz mteresi-bearing securities and also premmum or discount amartization of, mainly, Greek
Crovernmment bonds and of other finanoial insmumenss.

The Bank does not recogmize intersst mcome on non-peiforming loans. Interest mecme for these loans ave
recorded i off balance shest accounts until these items are consideved perfmung.

1.5 Fee and commission income

Faes and commissions are gensrally recogmized on an zecrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan
comuutment fees for loans that are likely to be dravwm down are deferved (together with zll related dirsct costs)
and recogiozed 25 an adjustmoent to the effective interest rate on the loans.

2.6 Finanecial aszets

The Bauk clazsifies itz financizl zssefs m the following 4 categories. Management detenmines the classification
of 1ts mvestments at inetial recogmotion and rezssessment at reporting period.

[a) Fimancial assets at fawr value throwgh profit or lozs

Thiz category has two sub-categories: financial assetz held for tading (includmng denvatives), and other
financizl asseis designated at fair value through profit or loss at meeption. A fnencial asset 15 clazsified o this
category, if zequied principzlly for the purpose of selling m the short ferm o 1f o designated by management.
Derrvatives ave also categorized a5 held for fading unless they ave designated 23 hedges.

B}  Loans and recarvables
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Loans and recervables are non-derivative financial asseis with fixed or defermunzble payments that are mot
gquoted m an active market. Thev arize when the Bank provides monev, goods or services directly to 2 debior
with no infention of Tading the recervable. Loans mclude oniginated loans and do net include acquired loans.

() Held-to-maturity

Held-to-mzabhuity mvestmeents are non-devivative financial assets with fixed or determunable payiments and fixed
mzturities that the Bank's management has the positive mtention and ablity to held fo matunty. The Bank did
ot have any held-to-maturity assets when preparing these financizl statemeants.

(d)  Awvailable-for-sale

Available-for-zale investments are those imfended o be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold
i response to needs for hgudity or changes m interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Purchases and zales of financial assefs at categories (a), (e}, {d) above ave recogmized on ssttlement date — the
date that a fimancial asset 15 delivered o or by the Bank, wheeh for held to matuity aszeis and availzble for zals
secunities meludes fransaction costs. Loans and advances (category b)) ave mecogmized when cash 13 advanced to
the berrowers.

Available-fov-zale financizl assets are subsequently camied af fair value. Gains and losses arsing from changes
i the fair value of available-for-zale financial assets are recogunized directly m squity, until the financial assets
15 derecogmozed or impaired af which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recogrozed in equity should be
recoguized in profif or loss,

Financial aszsets at fair value thwough profit or loss are subsequently measured at faw value based on closing
1ates. (rains and losses arising from changes mn the fair value of the "financial aszsets at fair value thiough profit
or loss" category are inchuded in the income stztement in the period m which they arise.

Loans and receivables and held-to-matmity mvestments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
mwethod less impaimment losses. These azsets are exammed for mupanment losses, whoch 13 when the present
value of expected cash flows discounted at the effective rate 15 less than bock value.

The fair values of quoted mwvestmoents in active markets are baszed on cwrent bid prices. I the market for a
financizal aszset 15 mof zetive (and for wnlisted secunities), the Bank establishes faw value by wsmgz valuation
techiioques. These include the use of recent amm's length tansactions, discounted cash Jow analysiz, and other
valuation techioques commeonly used by market participants.

The Bank asszesses at sach meporting period if there are indications of impaimuent. For equity imstruments
clazsified as available-for-zale such indications exist when the hedge 15 a considerable or prolonged decline m

the faw value compared to cost. If such impanmeent exists the remaming ameount i equity 15 transferved to the
Income statement.

3.7 OMf zetting financial instruments
Financial zsszets and liabilities ave offset and the net amount reported 10 the balance sheef when:
a) there 15 a legally enforceable nght to offset the recoznized amounts and

b} thers 1z an infention fo settle on a nef basis, or realize the asset and settle the Liability simultansoushy.
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1.3 Bale and repurchase agresments

Securities sold subject fo repurchase agresments (Mrepos”™) are included in the fimancial statements of the Bank
az azsets; the counferparty lability 1z mehoded im ameounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other
deposits or deposits due to customeers, 25 appropiiate.

Securities purchased by the Bank under agreements fo resell (Mreverse repos™) are recovded as loams and
advances fo other banks or eustomers, a5 appropriate. These secunties are not included 1 the Bank's finaneial
statemnents.

The diffevence betwessn sale and repurchase price 13 oeated as mferest and zccrued over the life of the
agreements using the effective interest method.

1.9 Impairment of financial assets

Azzets with an infintte useful life and ave not depreciated but are aszessed for impaimuent losses at each balance
sheet date or whenever there 15 an indication that the reporting balance 15 non recoverable. Assets that are
depreciated are tested for impairment loss when there 15 evidence that the book value 15 not recoverzble. The
recoverable amount 15 the largest amount between faw value lezs zslling costs and value in use. I estimating
the recoverable amount assets ave classified in smaller cash genevating vnits. Iopanmeent loss when incwrred 15
recognized to the ncome statement.

The Bank assesses af ezch balance sheet date whether there 15 objective svidence that a financial assef or group
of Anzncial assets (Joans, vestments) 15 impaived. A financial aszef or a group of fAnencial assets 15 impaired
and impaimuent losses are mowmed 1f) and ouly o, thers 15 objective evidence of iImpaimuent as a result of one or
more events that ocewred after the mtial recogmition of the aszet (2 “less event™) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financizl asset or group of fimancial asszeis that can be
relizbly estimated. Ohjective evidence that a financial asszet or group of assets 13 impaired mcludes observabls
dzta that comes to the attention of the Bank about the following loss events:

1) sigmificant financizl difficulty of the 1ssuer o1 obligor;

(11} a bieach of contract, such as a default or delinguency in inferest or prncipal payments;

(111} the Bank granting to the bowrowsr, for econcmic or legal reasons relating o the bomower's
financizl diffieulty, 2 concession that the lender would not otherwize consider;

(177 it 15 becoming probable that the bomower will go bankmpt or will follow a fnancial
IesIeiwing;

{3 the disappearance of an active market for that financial z2sz8f because of Snancial difficuliies;

(31} obzarvable data mndicating that thevs 1z 3 measurable decrease m the sstimated future cash flows

from 2 group of financial asseis since the imotial mecogmition of those assets, although the
decrease caunot vet be 1dentified with the mdinidual financial azsets in the bank, includmz:

- adverse changes in the pavment status of bonrowers m the bank; or

- mationzl or local econonue conditions that correlates with defaults on the aszefs in the bank

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impanment exists individually for fimancial assets that
are mdmvidually sigroficant, and ndividually or cellectively for finaneial assets that are not individualby
sigmificant. If the Bank deterunes that neo objeciive evidence of impaniment exists for an mdrvidually assessed
financizal asszet, whether sigmificant or net, ot mncludes the asset o a group of fnancial assets with simular credit
sk characteristics and collsctively assesses them for impaimuent. Assets that are individually assessed for
mnpanment and for which am impainnent loss 15 or continues to be recogmizad are not included 1n a collective
azsessment of Impainuent.

Changes m the expected cash flows are recogmized m the income statement as a gain if there iz 3 elease or a
logs if there 15 an merease.
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Impaimment loss 13 considered the difference between the carrying amount at the date of the impairment test loss
and the expected cash flows of the assets discounted using the original effective infersst rate.

For the puposes of 2 collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of simular
credit sk characteristics (Le., on the basis of the Bank's grading process that considers asset tyvpe, mndusty,
geograplical location, collateral type, past-dus siatus and other relevant factors). Those charzcteristics are
welevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such aszsets by being mdicative of the debiors’
ability o pav 2ll amounts due accordng to the confractuzl terms of the aszeis being evaluated.

In subsequent pericds, possible changes in expected cash flows 25 result of a change in the financial aszef, are
recognized m the meoome sfatement and the ameount of the impaimuent loss 15 reversed or mecreazed by adjusiing
the allowanee zecount through the mcome statemment.

1.10 Intangible assets — Software

Acouired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basiz of the costs mowred fo acquire and buing to

use the specific software. Thess costs are amortized on the basis of the expected useful lives (thres to five
FEAT).

Costs associated with developing or mainfzining computer software proglams are recoguozed as an expense as
imeurred.

1.11 Property, plant and equipment

Operating property, plant and sguipment are stated at historical cost less depreciafion and mmpairment loss,
Historical cost includes expenditurs that 15 divecily attributable to the zcquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are mcluded in the asset’s canrving amount or are recogmized zs 2 separate assef, as
appropraate, ouly when it iz probable that fubwe economic benefits associated with the ifem will flow fo the
Bank and the cost of the ifem can be measured reliably. All other repanrz and mamtenznce are charged to the
mcome statement during the fimancial period in whoch they ave mewmed.

Land 15 not depreciated. Depreciation on other asszeis 15 caleulated using the straight-line methed to allocats
thew cost to their restdual values over their astimated useful lives, as follows:

Years
Buildings and leasehold improvemeants 40tz 50
Computer Hardware Itod
Velzeles St
Furmiture and equipment S5to7

Azzets that are subject to amorfization azre veviewsd for impaimuent whenever events or changss n
circmmstances mndicate that the carrving ameount may not be recoverable. Gains and losszes on disposals ave
determned by comparing procesds with canying ameount. These are included mn the Income statement

On gansition date to IFES (] Jamwary 2004) the Bank wvalued land and bwldings at faw value based on
professional valuations. This fair value was consideved as deemied cost.
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1.12 Investment property

The Bank classifies land and buldings that are not used for operational pupeses or are hald for imvestmoent
purposes (rental income or capital appreciation) a5 inveshment property and records them at amortized cost less
mopaiment losses, The Bank depreciates investment property during ifs useful hife, whick iz estimated at 40 to
30 wears. On gansition date to IFES (1 January 2004) the Bank classified mvestment property at fair value as
determned by professional valuators. Fair value was considered as their deemead cost

1.13 Leases (The Bank as lesses)

Lezses of fixed azsets where the Bank has substantizlly all the rizsks and rewards of cwnership ave clazsified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized af the inception of the lease af the lower of the faw value of the
leazed property or the present value of the munimmum lease payviments. Each lease payment iz allocated between
the hability and fmance charges zo as to aclueve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-tern payables. The mnterest
element of the finance cost 15 charged to the income statement over the leaszs period.  Fixed assefs acouired
wmider finance leases are depreciated over the shotter of the uzefiul life of the zssef o1 the lease ferm

Lezses whete 2 significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retzined by the lessor are classified
az operating leases. Pavments made undsr operzting leaszss (uet of mcentives received from the leszor) ave
charged to the Income statement on a straight-line basis over the pericd of the lease.

1.14 Cash and cash eguivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents compnse balances with less than thres
months’ maturity fom the date of acquisition, meluding: cash and non-restricted balances with the Bank of
Greece, treasury bills and other slizible bills, loans and advances to banks, ameounts dus from other banks and
shoti-tenm govermment seourities,

11% Provisions

Provizions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognized when:
(17 the Bauk has 2 present legal or constiuctive obligation a5 a result of past events;

(27 1t 13 more likely than net that an cutflow of rescwrces will be mequired fo settle the
obligation; and

(31 the amount has been reliably estimated.

1.16 Employes benefits
(a) Short-term chligations

Shori-termn obligations to smplovess in cash or other non-monetary items ave recogiozed 25 2n expense on an
i
accrial basis,

&) Post emplovmoent bensfits

The Bank has both defined benefit and defined contibution plans. The contnibutions are mecogmized as
smploves benefit expense when they are due.

The lizbility recogmized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans 1z the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date lass the fair value of plan assets.
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Upon the date of publizhing these fnancial statements the Bank has an awoliary fund (TEAPETE) which has

been submutted to law 33702005 "Capital market and other laws™ az explained in note 36.
() Emploves termmination benefits

Emploves termuination benefits are paid when emplovees leave prior to retivement. The Bank recorvds a liability
when 1f 15 obliged fo pay an ameount accordmg to 2 defailed smploves schemes or when there are motives for
voluntary ermunztion. Leong-fenm emplovment schemes ave discounted.

In case the munber of the beneficiary emplovees 15 not known precizely, termunation benefits are recognized as
a contingent labality.

217 Deferred tax

Deferred tax 15 provided in full, using the hability method, on temporary differences avising befween the tax
bases of assets and lizbilities and thew canrving ameounts in the consolidated financial statements. Defered fax
15 determuned usmg tax rates (and laws) that have been enzcted or substantially snzcted by the balance sheat
date and are expacted to apply when the related deferved tax azset 15 realized or the deferved mcome tax labdlity
15 settled.

Deferred tax assets ave recoguized whers 1t 15 probable that futurs taxable profit will be available against whoeh
the temporary difference can be utilized.

Dieferred faxes are presentad separately a5 assefs and hiabilities and are not offzst

Income fax payable ocn profits, based on the applicable tzx law rate, 15 recognized 25 an expense 1 the pernod m
which profits arise. The tax effects of meoome tax losses available for carry forward are recogunized as an zsset
when if 15 probable that future taxable profits will be available against with these loszes can be utilized.

118 Debt secorities and other debt iz3nes

Diebt secmifies issues and subordmated debt of the Bank are recogmized mmitially at fair value, being their 135us
proceeds (fair value of consideration recerved) net of tramsaction costs imowred  They ave subssquently
measured at amortized cost; auy difference between proceeds net of fransaction costs and the redempiion valus
15 recogmzed in the ncome statement over the pertod of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

119 Share capital and own shares

Incremental costs dwectly atinbutable to the 13sue of new shares or options or to the zoquisifion of a business
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of fax, from the proceeds. Directly attnbutable costs of issming shares for
the prapose of zcquinng an entify are inchuded in the cost of the acquired entity.

Where the Bank puwchaszss the Bank's sguity share capifal, the consideration paid iz deducted from tofal
sharebolders' equity as freaswry shares until they are sold or cancelled. Where such shares are subssquently sold
ot retssued, any consideration recerved 15 inchided in sharehiolders' equity.

1.20 Fiduciary activities

The Bank commonly acts az tustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the helding or placing of
azsets on behalf of individuals, fusts, retirement benefit plans and other mstitutions. These assets and ncomes
arising thereon ave excluded from these financial statemsents, a5 they are not assets of the Bank.
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2.2]1 Related-party transactions
Eelated parties include compames withon the control of the Bank, compames for which the Bank exerts

sigmificant influence, Board of Directors members and thew close famuly members. The bank enters into
fzansactions with related parties m the wsual course of 1ts business,

1.12 Segment reporting

The busmess segments 15 the primary reporing format of the Bank. Taking mio consideration the Bank's
mtermz] reporing system and orgamzational shuchuwe, the following reportable business segments have been
1dennfiad:

" Reta:] banking

* Corporats banking

* Insuranes and asset management actvities
" Investorent banking and Trezswmy

" Crher

113 Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have besn adjusted to confoam o changes in pressntation in the cwrent
VEar.

A, Critical accounting estimnates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Bank makes estimates and azsumpiions that 2ffect the reperted amounts of zssetz and labalities withon the
next fAnancial year. Estimates and judzements are continually evaluated and zvre based on lustoncal expenisnce
and other factor, including expectations of future events that are believed fo be reasonable under the
clrcumsianeas,

(a) Impairment on loans and advances

The Bank reviews its loan porifelios to assess mupaninent at lezst on 2 quarterly basis. In defermemnz whathey
an mpaimeent loss should be recorded in the meome statement, the Bank makes jndzements as to whether theve
15 any -::-I:rsen able datz mdicaning that there 1z 2 mezswrable decrease in the estumzted futuwre cash fows from a
portfelio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individuzl loan m that portfohie. This evidence
mav nclude chservable data Ju-:hca‘mg that there haz besn an adverse change m the payment statuz of
borrowers in a @ioup. or naticnzl or lecal economue conditions that nnE]a‘e with defaults on assets i the
group. Management uzas estimatas based on listoneal loss experience for assets with eredit rizk characteristics
and chyective evidence of mmpanment similar to those in the portfolio when schedulmg 1ts futwe cash flows.

(b} Fair value of derivatives

The fair value of financial instnuments that are not guoted in active markets are defermined by using valuation
techmgues. Where valuation techmiques are used fo deternune faw value, they are validated and pencdically
reviewed by qualified persomel independent of the area that created them. All medels are certified before they
are used, and madals are calibratad to ensura that oufputs veflect actnal data and comparative market prices. Te
the extent practical, models use only observable data, however areas such as credit risk (both cwm and
comterparty), volatilities and comelations reguire management to make estimates. Changes mm zszumptions
about these factars could affect reported fair value of financial mehuments.

() Impairment of available-for-zale eguity investments

The Bank determunes that available-for-sale squity investments are mpaired when there has been a sizuficant
or prolonged decline m the fair value below s cost. Thiz detemminztion of what 13 sizmificant or prolonged
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requires udgement. In makmg this judgement the Bank evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility mn
share price. In addition, impainnent may be appropriate when there 15 evidence of deteriovation in the financial
he:]gﬂﬁ of the invesiee, mdustry and sector performance, changes m technelozy, and operational and financing
cash fowrs.

(d) Income taxes

The Bank recogmizes lizbihities for anticipated tax audit 155ues bazed on eshmates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the finzl tax cuicome of these matters 15 different fom the amounts that were imitially

recorded, such differences will impact the mecme tax and deferred tax provisions m the penod in which such
determmnation 15 mads.

(g} Due to state pension funmds

The estimates, judgements and assumptions, concemung the labilities to Siate pension funds are dllustrated m

Mote 34.
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4. Financial rizsk Management
4.1 Financial rizk factors

The Bank's activities are related with financial instrument 1isks including nisks from dersvatives. The Bank
receives deposits from customers for different fime intervals offering fixed and floating rates. The Bank
mvests theze funds fo achieve gher than the average offer rate. To expand this spread the Bank receives
short-termn deposits zand effers higher rates for long-term liabilities maimtaimng adegquate liguidity coverage
for all poszible obligations that may coour.

The Bank 1z exposed to various risks such as cvedit, hgmdity, cash flow and fzir value risk from the change m
ratez. The genserzl nizk managemen:t pelicy for the Bank 1 focused on confrenting the uncertamties of
financial markets and mies to monmmize any negative affects to the profits for the Bank. The Bank uses
finaneial derivatives such as fubmresforwards and intarest rate swaps to hedge these nisks.

Fisk management apart from credit rizk 13 maimntamned at a central level adaping to regulztions and decizions
mads by the Asset Liabality Commeuttes (ATLCO). Credit rizsk management 1z govermed by the Cradim
Committee that defines the credit rizk strategy and momteors its progress. Bizk Managemeni defines, estimates
and confrents all finzneial 13:ks 1 cooperaticn with the dspartments that are mvelved with thess risks. The
Management zives mstructions and guidelmes for central nizk management and special menuwctions for
confrenting special risks such as foreizn exchangze, mterest and credit 1izk.

Cash flow hed=ins and fair value hedming for changes m interest yates.

Cperating income and cash flows of the Bank are affactad by the change in interest rates. The Bank in several
cazes 15 exposad to floating rates loans and enters mto a interest rate swap (IFR5) to hedge cash flows on
future mterest pavmeents that result 1 converting floatme loans to fixed.

IES comtracts allow the Bank 1o convert long-temm exposwie fiom floanng to fixed at a lower rate from on
meeptionn.  Through IRS the Bank agieez with third parties fo swap at a nofional amount the primanly
difference between fleating and fixed.

Interest rate rizk 15 from long-term loans. Floating rate loans expose the Bank to cash flow risks. Fixed rate
loans expose the Bank to faw value risks. It 1z the Bank’s policy to have approcamately thewr entive loan
portfolio with floating rates.

4.2 Credit rizsk

Cradit risk 15 the loss from the nizk that the counferparty will be unable to pav amouwnts 1 full when due. In
accordance with its credit scoring policy the Bank can estimate the credit rizk for each loan category and
estimate the exposure to credit risk.

From experience, management 15 able to carefully manage the credit risk it 1s exposed to, by 1zsmng credit
policies.

It applies an misrnal credit grading for corporate entities, small and medivm size entines. This model has
been mmproved and 15 contimually reviewed watlun the context of policies, procedures znd repayment behavior
of the counterparties, so that the Bank will maximize the benefit fiom 1tz use. The new medel is based on
clas=ifying loans in delay by collateral coveraze.

Based on the same model the Bank already connects the customer grading with the credit risk exposed withm
a vear by industry.
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Conceming the momtormes znd manzgement of concentration nsk, the Bank develeped a new svotem of
limits per mdustry. This system 15 based on the rating of industries according to their dynamic characteristics
and on the measursment of cpiinmmm diversification of the loan portfolio.

Eegarding retzil loans, the Bank can assess the credit scoring systems in use and by modifving their datz can,
precisely, estimate the credit risk by customer and mommuize that risk. In order to guantify credit risk and
eztimate the pessible loss the Bank has developed metheodologies bazed on the payment behaviers of
CUSHOTETS.

In addifion the Bank has developed a system for allocating mmpamrment allowances of portfolio loans, Thes
swstem caleulztes an estimation of the poszible loss for the following vear based on historic trends and it 1=
uzed to evaluzte the guality of the cradit portfolio. Impaimment losses reccrded cover the estimation of the
possible loss for the Bank.

Empaortki Bank 15 in the process of develeping new risk management policies to comply with the new Basle
II fameweork.

4.3 Aarker rizk

In 2005 the Bank developed and improved itz mternal nzk management poliey. The maximm value at sk
VaE) for the trading portfelio 15 estimeated through historical simulation on 2 daily basis. In additnen it uses
the Mente-Carlo methodalogy. This analyzis 1z performed for each market risk factor (mterest rate sk,
foreign exchange risk and mearket risk) and iz confirmed through back testing and stress testing. In 2004 the
Bank adopted an mvestment strategy in lugh quality mieimational corporate securities.

The average credit rating of this portfolio by the end of 2005 was A zceording to Standard & Poor's
evaluation.

Within the context of the Group risk management pelicy, the Bank m 2005 included Phomix-Metrelife m its
svstems and, i the futare, 2t will inelude the subsidiaries in the financial zecter. In addition, 1t submotted to
the ragulatery autheorities (Bank of Greece) for the certification of the intemal risk estimeation model (VAR
5o that 1t can substitute the curmrently applied standardized methodology.

4.4 Foreign currency rizk

Foreign exchange rizk 1z the risk from the change m value of 2 finanecial mstrument zsset or lizbility as a
rezult of changes in foreizn exchange rates. Forelzn cwirency rizk from tranzactions in foreizn cwmrency 1= a
result of a long or short open position exposing the Bank fo foreign exchange rizks. These nisks may alse
razult by fimding assetz i one comrency with 2 liablity 1o a different cwrrency or through forward contracts o
by optien derivatives. This risk 13 alse driven by the net sguity of subsidiaries with 2 presentation cutency
other than the Eure. The Bank covers this 11:k as itz funding 15 to 2 large extent the same cuwrency. The Bank
doas transactions i forelgn cmirencies fo cover customer needs or fo hedge itz open positions. The Bank's
nizk management menmtors transactions bazed on limits azpproved. The Bank mamntains limits in crder to
contral the followme:

[2)0pen positicns in 2 cwrency (long or short per cumrency).
(b1 Total negative exposuras.

(el axmum losses (On a dailyv/meonthly cr amuzl basiz).

The following tables show the foreizn currency exposure of the Bank. These tables present assets and
Liabihities per curveney. In addifion the nofional amount used to hedze the cwrreney 1izk i1z alse shown,
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31 December 2005

ASEETS

Cash and balances with Ceniral Bank
Treazary bills and other elizinle bills
Thue from other banks

Trading seoumtes

Denvative financial instmaments — asseds
Loamns and advances 1 cusinmmers
Available-for-sale saqumties
Tovesoment in sabsidianies
Towesoment in asspciabes

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Twvesnment property

Defemed tax assat

Incoms tax advances

(ithar aszets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Dhz to pdher banks
Dervative financizl insmamerds — habilities
Thee to customers

Diebd saumites in issue
Oithar borrowed funds
Personne] ipdemnites
Dhee to State pension funds
Oithar liakilities

Carrent taw liaoilides
Diefamad tax Eabilizas
Total labilities

Net equity
Off balance sheet 1fems

31 December 2004
Total assats

Total lisbdities
Net equity

Off balance sheet 1fems

EUR USD GEF CHF IPY Other Tatal
678452 38 GEY; 36 57 15 79051
919 - - - - 419
97RETS 261411 89176 30354 T35 BLIIL 1445615
795,517 10553 - - 47 05.117
33621 - - - - - 33621
13802003 TI3039 68 148 D441 o4 14.767.004
50854 - - - - 437 70.381
133 501 17939 15 - 62651 264190
13224 - - 9.265 12489
11154 - 4 - - 11188
303357 439 3 - 305 834
97612 - - - . 07822
M9.055 - - - 249056
3.008 - - - 3085
320440 415 332 195 1 1 330384
17.658.900  1.004.650 05181 115735 44858 164201 10.087516
EUR USD GEP CHF IPY Other Tatal
97315 105138 Tii6 112050 10831 TiE0 1215500
11976 . - - - - 11876
13100762 BEATO 91.582 4634 GB44 135762 148106
392317 - - - - 309327
43412 - - 345619
478 - - 479
786317 . - - - - 786,227
461412 3420 1613 8 (16384) (484 439 833
5,600 - - - - - 5.600
1544 - - - - - L34
16101503 988126 100541 116961 601851 135558 18048840
1557387 1654 (4.360) L7 (SETEP3) 25344 LOIBETS
582283 (18319 - - ET3TIE 3TO0M 1.083
EUR USD GEF CHF IPY Other Tatal
16564744 93546 105800 00042 55300 130008 17851062
15706908 833234 1DATIE BLEST  S1EEE 3407 17430438
57.836 10.310 27) (T0l) (453308  (L&DE) 411414
(368.108) (202) 9218 (B41ST) 00454 45534 2040
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4.5 Interest rate rizsk

Intevest rate rizk 15 the risk for changes n the fair value of financial instruments and to net inferest incomes for
the Bank az a result of changes in interest rates. Inferest rate risk 15 a result of the deferval 1n adjusting assets
and lability items to inferest rate changes.

The Bank uses the FVEBF methodology (Present Value of a Basis Poind) to measwe, contrel and manage
mterest rate risk. FVEBP measures the effect to the fair valus of finzncial instruments and o the profitability

of the Bank for every change by 1 basis point (0,01%2) to the vield curve.

The Bank's inferest rate risk mainly arises from retail bankmg and 5 wsually funded by money market
activities. There 15 though, a small velume of fransactions i fixed rate bonds and intevest rate forwards
compared o the size of the Bank’s balance sheat.

The Bank uses FVBP: as a measurement of exposures in order fo control:

[a) Total inferest rate exposurs by maturity.

&) Total intevest rate exposure per curvency (maimly Bure, GBF, USD and Awstralian Dellar).

(o) Total inferest rate exposure.

The Bank mezasures its interest rate exposure 25 the maximum lozs coourring as a result of changes in inferest
vates. Thess changes are based on historie data and thoough stress scenarios. It should be noted that the Bank
measures 1tz inferest rate exposure to count the maximum loss withon a reasonable inferval.

The following tables show the inferest rate exposure. These fables present the book valus of asset and

Liability items for the Bank categorized by the shovter between the intevest rate repricing date and the maturity
date of the financizl asset or labulity.
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31 December X005

Cpinl 1-2 3-12 1-5 Over 5 MNon imterest
ASSETS month months  months VEATS Vears bearins Tuaotal
Cash apd balancss with Capirl Bank 445127 - - - 214704 G708 8E]
Treasury bills and oiher alipzble hills EETL] - 583 - - - arg
Diue from other backs LIT481F 1490031 103098 1217 - 2408 1445415
Trading securities 170453 109042 17818 4317538 43406 26,830 208117
Demvative financial instruments —
az5afy 31621 - - - - - 134821
Lozms apd advances io costomars 10648380 2238301 2131083 363287 DETI (44518 147467 00=
Avzilabla-for-zale secumites - 32,123 - - - IR 1346 381
Invesmment in subsidiaries - - - - - 254 194 164 194
Invesmmant in associane: - - - - - 1248 21453
Insmzible asssts - - - - - 11168 11.198
Proparty, plant and sguipmeri - - - - - 05834 303834
Invesmen? propsriy - - - - - Q7422 L
Dieferred tax aszets - - - - - 240038 24T 056
Incoms tax adhvancas - - - - - 3005 3008
Other aszets - - - - - 33 a0L 330504
Total assets 12,403 862 2.550.950 1351 d00 810.142 53.178 017575 12.087.516
LIABILITIES
Dz 1o other banks LE0 158 217420 15418 - - 1182 1213509
Demvative financial instruments —
labilitias 21876 - - - - - 11976
Dz to customers 11 467.064 13004310 1722636 20.801 - 20532 14810824
Diebt secumines in 13508 - 300154 - - - 73 30317
Orher bomrowad fands 143610 - - - - - ECRE LY
Parsonme] indemnities - - - - - 279 478
Dz o State pension fund - - T8.633 314531 i3 163 - TBOIXT
Orher liahilities - - - - - 430835 4308315
Cumrent tax Liabilittas - - - - - G500 G600
Dieferred tax labilites - - - - - 1.54= 1.54=
Total liabilities 12.806.017 2.017.314 1.836.757 435422 303,163 S50 247 18048840
Net imterest rate exposure (314.055) 5334645 415843 AT4TM (330TEE)
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31 December 2004
Nom

Tpiel 1-2 i1z 1-5 imterest

month months  months Vears Cver & vears  bearins Total
Cash and balances with Ceniral Bank 410,613 - - - - 197123 &07.736
Treasury bills and ather eligitle blls 160,803 - 146.867 - - - 7.713
True from other banks 2720 121021 114383 - - 20174 LI01.278
Tradicg seoumties 146728  IBI390 135577 7114811 477895 119402 1.304123
Derivabve financial ipsmimeris — assets 14 - - - - - 148
Loans and advamces o customers BAgdend 2341171 1918304 507,638 J2B060 (6153980 12545438
Avarlanle-for-zale saguritiaz 18173 4352 G060 - 314481 2750 T0.00E
Imvesoment in subsidiasies - - - - - 45 258 i A
Investment in associanes - - - - - 22480 21480
Infangibla aszers - - - - - 15423 15423
Froperty, plant and equipment - - - - - 3l40a1 0 3l40a2
Iovestment property - - - - - 3768 1037468
Diafarrad tax asssts - - - - - 168083 168083
Income fax advances - - - - - 16.806 16806
(et assets - - - - - 317130 317130
Total assets 9.705.382 1TE0.A34 2213.5T2 1.219.347 837416 1035111 17.850.042
LIABILITIES
True to oiher banks 6160 189903 30008 - - - 753172
Derivabive financial ipsmamenis —
liahilities 53.024 - - - - - 53.024
True to Customars 11455003 1013377 2035687 36.211 - L3617 126035 103
Diabt saqumiies in issne - 308351 - - - - MIZES3
et porrowed fumds S - - - - ME
Perspmpe] indemmities - - - - - 457 457
True to Srate pansion faed - - - EIERT S 393143 - TR&32T
Orther Habilides - - - - - mierd e
Current tax liabilities - - - - - 2453 2453
Dafarred tax Eabalitias - - - - - 1.296 1.296
Total Habilities 12034196 1952417 2084705 429,175 103 163 35,602 17430638
Nef interest rafe exposure (L138514) TATHLT  11RTYT 780872 444253
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4.6 Liguidity rizk

Ligmdity 1isk 13 the 1isk fom the gap between the matuity of asset and lizbility items. Liguidity 1isk
axpresses the danger that the Bank canmet fulfill i4s ebligations in the fubue from gaps between financial
instruments or transactions.

The Bank measures this risk and conivels f by wsmg a developed Liguidity management that has varous
controls. The Bank adheres to ligmdity restramnts autheorized by the megulatory authorities locally and abroad
az well as to mtemmazl limts,

The Bank conirols and manages hguidity 1isk throughout the period by using the following:

(a) M reserve balance as defined by the Bauk of Greece.

&) Liguidity indexes defined by the regulatory authority (Bank of Greece)) and mternally.

The Bank's operations zbroad adhere fo Liouidity mules defined by the Bank of Gresce and local regulatory
decisioms.

The following fables depict the aszsets and lability items of the Bank by maturity as at the reporiing date.
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31 December 2005
1-2 3-12 1-5

Up to 1 month months momihs YEars Qver & yvears Taotal
ASSETS
Cach and balances with Cemimal
Back G041 - - - - ke |
Treasury bills and other aligibla
bills Bxy - al - - a3
Cmie from odher banks Lag 457 128201 56080 123315 110,323 1443815
Trading secumities 53060 - - Q6793 155,354 206117
Demivative finandial nstnuments -
R 33621 - - - - 3348211
Loars and advances to customers 1hig4s] 14327367 2515587 IE63324 4083845 147467004
Avalable-for-sale secumities 13802 - - 54574 - Mi3E]l
Ipvesiment in subsidiarnes - - - - 264100 154103
Irvesiment In associates - - - - 12480 21450
Iofangiole assets - - - - 11.13% 11198
Property, plaat and equipment - - - - 305554 305854
lcvesiment property - - - - L7622 A7.4622
Deferred 1 asssts - - - 120058 - 220058
Izcome % advances - - ER1] - - 3004
Crluer assets 2164877 42175 61,827 1415 - 330304
Total aszets 5444070 1661373 1639671 4,191 502 5150804 19087516
LIABILITIES
Crae tp other banks #14.743 521.132 oole - 167606  1.213.500
Cerivative fnancial nsirements —
liakilidez 21276 - - - - 21976
Crie to Casiomers 54327205 133037 1.742 860 877366 4419048 14810424
Dot secumities n lssue - - - 30 3LT - 30317
Crker bomowed funds - - - - MEale J4E4ln
Ferzopnsl indemnities - - - 474 - 474
Crae to Siare pension fuad - - 15633 31454 83142 TBA 31T
Crler Liabilitas 320673 o242 1232 36592 - 450 B35
Cuarent tax labilites - - o.600 - - G600
Deferred aw liabilities - - - 1 544 - 1 544
Total liabilities 6. 280 707 750431 1850 338 1A20 R0 TS1B5xd 15048840
Net equity (345.621) 00942 THR.332 1561663 (23TT.630) 1035476

1-3 312 1-&

Up to 1 month months months VERrs (Over 5 years Total
31 Drecember 24
Toral 2ssats 3006383 2010976 1802740 ZA34.740 3303214 17.851.042
Total liahilities 4601937 1082008 2006042 8140053 1428570 17.430.638
Net equity 404 435 Q2T 068 TOLERE  (3E05303)  LET4.635 411.424

€ Empork Rank



EMPORIFI BAME 54
Ficancial Siatements — Drecember 31, 2005
Ampaets io thensands m EUED (unless ofherwise expressed)

4.7 Eztablishment of fair valoes

Fair value of quoted mwiwvesiments, which are negotiable in active markests'stock exchanges, such as
derrvatrves, shares, bonds, mutual funds, 15 establizhed bazed cn curent bid prices valid 2t balance sheet date.

If the market for a financial asset 15 nof active (and for unlisted secwities), fawr valuess are established by

using valuztion fechmiques and assumptions bazed cn market information 2t balance sheet date.

£, Tranzition to IFES

5.1 Application of IFES 1

The financial statements of the Bank for the wvear snding 31 December 2005 are the first anmual financial
statemments m accordance with IFES. The financial stztements have been presented as stated im note 2.1, The
Bank has applied IFES 1 for the preparation of these anmual fimancial statements,

The fransition date for the Bank to [FRS 1= the 1% of January 2004, the date when the "opening balance sheat”™ of
the Bank was prepared in accovdance with IFES. The present anmual financial statements refar fo the peuiod
between | January to 31 December 2002, and the Izt of Jamuary 2005 15 considered as the date the Bank
adopted IFES.

For the compilation of the amwzl fimancial statements the Bank adopted the sxemptions in accordance with
IFES 1.

511 Optional exemption: from full refrospective application of IFRS
The Bank decided fo apply the followmz optional exemptions for IFES proposes:

a) Business combinations: The Bank decided net to adjust any business zequisitions prior to 1 Jaouary 2004
[fransition date].

b} Deemed cost: The Bank considers as desmed cost for property hield 1 January 2004 the fair value 25 at that
date.

5121 Mandatory exemptions from full retrospective application of IFES
Devecognition of financial insruments

The financial mstuments that were derecogmized as at 1 Janvary 2004 will not be recognized in the futurs
financizl stztements.

Hedge accounting

The management appliss hedge accounting from 1 Jamwary 2004 only if all of the cuteria required for hedge
accounting accordmg to LAS 39, are mat.

Eztimates and judgements
Accordmg to IFES 1, it 15 not allowed to use information, which has been disclosed after | January 2004 for
sstimations made wnder Gresk GAAP except for correction of evors. The Bank adjusted ifs estimations mn the

cazes were the measwrement basiz was not m zccordance with IFES, wmz imformation available at the
trznsition date.
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£.1 Beconciliation between IFES and Greek GAAP

The following tables show the effect o the Bank from the transinon to IFES. The first schedule shows the
reconciliztion of equity as at 1 Jamuary 2004 and 31 December 2004, whils the following tables show in detail
the affect 1o the:

Balance sheef items 1 January 2004

Balance sheat tems 31 December 2004

Profit and less account as at 31 December 2004
Cash flow statement a5 at 31 Decamber 2004

£.1.1 Reconciliation net equity
1 Jammary 24 31 December 2004

Total Net Equity (Greek GAAP) - Publizhed 1.265.571 1.325.863
Reversal of 2003 appropriaton of profic (Ll 40. 746 -
Intanziblz assets write-off (I {15.626) {21.791)
Bevaluation of property at fair value e 193 206 116.1=8)
Change in depraciaton rates 4 - L1854
Finamcial laazes 3] {23} {61}
Impaimment of loans and advances (&) (1421007 (137.228)
Effective interest rate method for commission on loans {145 38 (N {21857 A0TET
Effective imtersst mie mathod for interest on loans (TAS 390 M 1173 TeoE
Prowision for obligation to ETEAM kS (TRE.327) (TRE.32T)
Impaiment of invesimerts m subsidanes %) (158.348) (155808
Impaimment of invesimerts m associaies {5 {36.653) (183800
Impaiment of available-for-sale assets {5 (20,874 -
Fevalvation of availailes-for-sals assars %) (23] 20
Bevaluation of trading pomfolis (% {6626 -
Diemvatives at fair value {5 1212 {384)
Tax on property revaluation {107 {76410 -
Provision for employes Denedits obligation 110 16413 {15.688)
Orther provision {10 (24007 (54000
Write-off of withholding fxes from the sale of invesmeris (1.333) (1.333)
Dieferred tax assets {11} 173197 268.083
Dieferred tax Labilites 1) (L.111} (2.2968)
Total adjustments (513.913) (P17.438)
Total net equity (IFES) 454.658 411.424

The above t2ole has been restated in companizer with the table presented in the meetim firancial saements of 2005 (Fefer to WMot 43).
Notes to the reconciliation of equity

(1) Accordmg to IFRS, dividends and profit zppropriation are recognizad when they are approved by the
sharehelders. According to the Gresk GAAP, dividends and profit appropriation are recosmized when
thew zre proposed.

2] Under Greek FAAP the mcognifion of specific mmfangible asseis iz allowed. Accordmgz o IFES,
infangzible aszets are recognized when if iz probable that fuhue economie bensfits will flow to the entity.
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31 On fansition date to IFES (] Jamuary 2004) the Bank valued land and buldings at faw value based on
professional valuations, This fair value was consideved as deemed cost Under Greek GAAP, property
was revalued zecording to the tax law provisions.

41 The depreciation rate, zccording to Greek GAAP was determoined by the provisions of the tax law. In
IFES, the depreciation charge 15 recogmized using the straight line method over the assets useful Iifa.

{31 In Greek GAAP, sxpenses from finance leaszss are recogmized to the Income Statement on 2 straight-
line method. Under IFES, expenses from finance leases are recogmized using the effeciive interest rats

methad.

(5] Loans to customers and other receivables were assessed for mdication of mupanmment. Impaimuent loss
was recoguized for those loans and recetvables for which the canrying amount exceedad the recoverzble
amnount.

{7 Accordmg to IFES, directly attnbutable fees and compussions, velating to loans, are recogmuzed o the
Income Statement using the effective intevest rate method. According to Gresk GAAFP, thess fess and
COMIEElons are recognized to the Income Statement when they ave received or incurred.

(3] The Bauk recognized its hability arizing from the mmchusion of TEAFETE to IEA-ETEAM accordmg to
L3371:72005.

[ Securities and denvatives were recogmozed according to IAS 39 provisions.  According to Gieek
GAAP securities are valued af the lower of cost or market value.

(10 Accordmgz o IFES provisions are mecogunized when there 15 2 pressnt contractual or constuctive
oblization and an cutflow of resouwrees embodyving scononue bensfits is probable. Greek GAAFP allows

the recogmition of specific classes of provisions.

(117 Accordmg to Gresk GAAFP, no liability or azset from deferred taxes i recogmized.

€ Empork ank




EMPORIFI BAME 54
Ficancial Siatements — Drecember 31, 2005
Ampaets io thensands m EUED (unless ofherwise expressed)

£.1.1 Balance Sheet reconciliation 1 January 2004
Effect on transition
GEEEK GAAF to IFRS IFRS
ASRETS
Cash and balances with Cenmal Bank R 1L= IR 114
Treasary bills 4702 Q.92
Tiue from ather banks 254042 Ofd £22
Tradieg secunties 2153781 2.153.791
Denvadve financizl insmaments 14 1=2
Loans and advarcces to customers® 11.705.002 {135.272) 11,569 730
Bonds and other fixed income seumites 1824 367 {1832 367 -
Shares and odler varabls oo secmities 8727 {287,271 -
Availanle-for-sals seoumtes 61814 61816
Tovestments i swpsidiaries R {270L.721) 450173
Tovestment in associates 11463 (16.308) 15357
Infangibla assets 48 500 {1754, 20,651
Praperty. plant and squipment 134 Béd 17441+ 309280
Tovestment property 42014 2016
Diefermed tax assais® 2731487 173197
Income fax advances - 18.957 12857
Dither aszes® 417770 {10:0.228) 317.344
Total aszets™ Li.644.282 3.1 16.647.602
LIABILITIES
Thee o odfer banks 1225558 1.123 556
Denvadve financial insmaments T6.X21 76221
Thus to customars 13841 685 13,541 683
Diabt secumizes in ismae T3 - 73
Other provisions 19 {280 -
Thyz o Srate pension faed * 7845.317 TRA.32T
Oither Habilites* 308363 (75071 230297
Carrent taw liabilites 31674 674
Diefermed tax Labilites 1111 1111
Total abilifier™ 12375711 317.233 16192844
Equiry
Share capital 410858 4210 658
Share pramdmy TR0 178342
Treasury shares (3R935) {BE.033)
Dithar ressrves f49.254 (6.32%) 541,831
Accumalated deficic - (ROT.3R5) (B07.388)
Total equity™ 1.268.571 (813.913) 454658
TOTAL LIABITITIES AND EQUITY 16644 282 3.1 16.647.602
*The fmures per IFRS have been restated In companizon with thess fmmes presenfed m the iptenm finsncial stxtements of 2005, Rafar o
Mote 43,
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£.1.3 Balance Sheet Beconciliation 21 December 2004

ASSETS

Cash and balapces with Cenmal Bank

Treasary bills

Tiue from other banks

Trading securies

Drenvanve financial insmamenis

Loans and advances o cusiomers*
Bonpds and odher fixad income saqumities
Shares and odher varabls Income secumities

Availanle-for-sale saqunties
Tovesooents moswbsidianss
Tovesoment in associanss
Infangibla assets

Properry, plant and equipment
Tovestment propemy

Diefomed tax asset

Incorns fax advances*

Oithar aszes®

Total assefs™

Liabilities

Tiue to oiher banks
Drenvanive financial insoamerts
Tiee to customers

Diebd saqumiias

Othar dzbt secuniles
Employea benefifs

Thue to State pension fand*
Other provisions

Othar Hakilines*

Carrent taw liabilities
Diefemed tax Labilides
Total Habilite:®

Equity

Share capizal

Share pramdmy

Lezs: Crwvn shares
Oithar resarves
Accumalated deficin*
Total equity™®

Total liabilities and equity

Effect om
transitien to
Creek GAAP IFES IFES
607736 - Gi7. 736
2797 277712
1101278 1.101.278
294123 1894123
- 240 120
12880507 (123758 12545 838
T (L840 560 -
101152 (101.157) -
- 0005 T0.003
397802 (152534) 245 258
20412 2077 2LARD
L64l8 (30a0d) 15423
331147 {17.075) 114042
103758 103 768
158983 265 083
- 16904 16806
4=1 757 {12467 117130
17 914 652 (G362 17351 042
753172 755172
- 5301 51024
14,693 105 12685 103
IO B33 105 £53
32082 - 145082
13.435 (13153} 451
- TBA32T TBA32T
17453 {17453} -
357514 34335 s
8433 3453
1206 1296
16,585 810 351819 17430 638
485415 - 485 433
381137 (BR O 72183
(BR O35} - {B2.033)
TI6077 (208ET 475120
{124 8313 {78758} (R3L378)
1.318 863 (917430 411424
17 914 652 (G362 17351 042

*The fmures per IFRS have been restated In companizon with thess fmmes presenfed m the iptenm finsncial stxtements of 2005, Rafar o

Mote 43
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£.1.4 Beconciliation of income statement for the year ended 21 December 2004

Effect on transition to
Creelt CAAF IFRS IFRS
Intzrest & similar mcome gll.ge= 4823 516.507
Intarest experse f& similar charges {20277 R (2BL.258)
Net interest income 512 417 12842 533249
Fee fr commizsion incoms 153813 {12 5007 L35313
Fea & commizsion expense (11.868) - {11 8660
Net Fee & commission income 138.947 (12.500) 126.447
Dividend imcame 4230 - 4430
Het rading Tesulis (15953 343035 15.4=2
Gams less losses from Investment secumiiles - (67 036) {67.036)
Other operating mcoms L2037 3458 15,723
Net operating income 61 868 {18.611) 431257
Saff costs {401.080) 4404 (186 686
Depraciaton (37015 7042 {20 053]
Impaimment losses on loans and advances {148.203) 14252 (1333500
Other operating expensas {122.373) (20 050 (1514=1)
Total operating expenses {T08.681) {2.751) (T1L.432)
Extranrdinary resulis 3413 (3.423) 0
LOS5 BEFORE TAX (433040 34.788) [758.175)
Incoms Tax (13084 2088 [13.596)
LOS5 AFTER. TAX (62374} (ALTAT) (14.171)
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£.1.58 Cazh Flow Statement as at 21 December 2004

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from invesfing activities

Cash flows from financing actvities

Net increase’{decrease) in cath and cash equivalents
Met imcreaze in cash and cash equivalents dus 1o mergsr
Cash and cash equivalents, at begicning of period

Cash and cazh eqoivalents, at end of period

Greele CAATP

Effect om transition to

IFES

IFRS

(237.405)
(94.758)

00209
368,045
[
1211693
15580520

The material adjustmeents fo the cash flow statement zve dus to the following:

(350.005)

123 567

L
L=}
[ =]

(107.472)
1.260.874
1.153.402

(396414
150.808

Ta17e
260573
781

2471 567
273301

a) the defincfion of cazh and cash equivalents. Accovding fo IFES, cash and cash equivalents comprize balances
with less than three months' maturity from the date of acquisifion mecluding cash on hand and non-resicted
balances with the Bank of Greecs, treaswy lls and other eligible balls, loans and advances to banks, amounts
due from other banks and short-fenm govermment secunties.

b} reclassifications

6. Segment reporting

Investment

Eatail Corporate Insorance / Aszet  banking &
From 171 fo 3LA2 2005 Total banking banking mAnI gemEnt freasury Qther
Met inferest incoms 64296 270.667 G7.12% - 26501 -
Met f2e apd commdssion Income 141.562 105,757 LB.662 RERHAE 478 -
Oither mcoma 20.188 - 4.347 B6E1 6,041
Net Operating Income TA5.0=7 5T6424 25,741 14.611 21260 6041
SaniE cost 121031 239,933 10817 £ 14 504 EERIE ]
Impainment losses on loans and other
receivanles 112845 B5.782 17083 - -
Dither opemating expences 176,828 112129 15.111 1678 21307 15.602
Total Operating Expenses 610.704 247.524 72111 5.208 36811 =8.748
FROFIT (LOS5) BEEFORE TAX 115.343 113,508 13.680 2403 5440 (41787
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Investment

Eetail Corporate Insurance / Aszet  banlang &
Erom 17 o 3L 2004 Total bankinz banking mALAgement freasury (ther
Mat imterest income 535140 2454019 af 433 - 21487 -
Mer f2e and commussion moome 125447 03482 17148 0728 LY -
Dther mooms (15435 1418 (24154} 11307
Net Operating Income 433257 530411 33.781 12146 (15408 12307
Saff costs IRG.6RG 303523 1R854 1756 12357 iE114
Impaimeent losses on loans avd other
receivailes 133151 240112 37338 - -
Dther opemaning expenses 181,303 134.012 16289 1.723 13032 14334
Total Operating Expenses 711432 535.651 Q2263 5451 23358 51448
PROFIT {LO55) BEFOREE TAX (TELTS) 3. 760 {36820 G685 {40,787 {38141

Eetall banking includes zll services and products offered to mndividuals, freelance professionals small and

medim size entities.

Corporate banking ineludes products and services offerad to large corporations and shippins compamas.

Insurance and assef management services refer fo porifolic management for clisnts and msurance products
delivered throuzh the Bank's netarork.

Invesmeent bankmz and Treaswy nclude financizl services, consulting and Tansacton services on capital
exchange 1szues and on dealing room activities.

In the other sections are all non-financial or iInsurance actrnties as well as the admimistratrve and back off

services of the Bank

7. Met interest income

Interest income

Cash and short-term fiunds

Bonds' Treasury balls

Cuztomer bonds and reverse repos
Loans and advances

Interest expensze

Banks and customers

Dbt securitias

Sacuities and repos
Oolizations to pension funds
Oiher borrowmng funds

Net Interest Income

€ Emporik Bank

Il -31/127° 2005

L1 -31712/2004

43.447 28128
65.185 T1.517
a7 g32
T96.782 710.012
05,521 B16.507
284715 243576
10369 1.731
T.645 31643
7757 -
10.739 4306
341,215 I51.158
£64.296 535.149
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8. Met fee & commizsion incomes

Fee & commizsion ineome
Loans

Working capital

Latters of puarantes

Cradit cards

Impoits — Exports

Wiutual Punds

Chher commussions

Fee & commizsion expenses
Cradit cards

Felated banks and compantes
Onher

Net commizsion incoms

9. Dividend income
Subsidiaries and asseciates

Trading portfolio
Available-for-zale portfolio

Dividend income

10, MNet trading resualts

Met profit from zale and valuation of moatuzl funds
units

Met profit from f1znsactions and foreign exchangs
valuation

Met profit from sale and valuation of bonds

Met profit from zale and valuation of shares and
other varnable visld securities

Mat loss from =ale and valuation of denvatives

Met trading results

11 21132005

11 -3112/2004

27.235 14 595
7347 8.751
13.335 12401
25842 18318
7529 8.254
0064 0737
38315 56.246
153,807 138.313
7578 8453
251 2710
4378 703
12,245 11.5366
141.562 26.447

11 317122005

11 -3112/2004

2599 470
§52 3,719
909 241
2,060 1.430
111 -31/12/2005 11 -31/12/2004
- 2115
3663 (585)
(5.300) 29 825
11.461 27287
(5.783) (39 800)
4,041 15.442
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11.Cains less lazses of investment portfolie 11 31712200 11 -3171272004

Net profit from moatuzl fimds wncts sales 2464

Neat profit from =ale of subsidiary 114

Imepaimment losses of participation to suhsidianes - (67.036)
Total result of investment portfolio 2580 (67.036)
12.0¢her operating income 1/1 =312 2005 1/1 3171202004
Een:l income 1.548 1.758
Procaeds from waitten-off recervablas 1.591 2 360
(zain from the sale of fixed zszetz 4051 8405
Oiher income 2318 2201
Other operating income 11.508 15,725
13, Staff costs 1/1 -31/13/2008 /1 -31/12/2004
Salaries and wages 2200043 246 306
Socizal securtty cost (prmcipal and awaliary) 354449 101.525
Ohher benefits 15530 48 355
Staff expenzes 211.031 396.686

Total persomnel of Emportk: Bank as at 31 December 2005 conzists of 6.377 people compared to 6627 az at
31 December 2004

14, Other operating expenszes 171 -317122005 '] 311272004

Faaz and third party expenszas 18517 17510
Thwd parties faas 43 676 43 314
Inswrance faas 1.627 6.135
Tames and duties 15278 13,537
(rher expenses &7.606 70442
Other operating expenses 152,704 121,442
15, Income tax expense 1/1 =31/12 2005 1/1 3171202004

Tax for the penod (provision) B.100 10.598
Defenred faxation (Meote 33) 19.176 5.398
Income tax expense 27176 15.996
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16, Earnings per share L'l -31712/2005 'l -31712/2004

Attributable profits’ (losses) to the Bank shareholders BE.087 =4 1713
Average mumber of shaves (excluding cwn shares) 95 948 B59 al43n 453
Basic Eamings per share [Eura) 052 (1.1}

Basic samuings per share 15 caleulated on the profit after tax atizbutable to the Bank's shareholders and the
weighted average mumber of shaves ocuistanding durmz the period after deducting own shares In ownership

during the period.

Diluted samungs per share 1z caloulated by adjusting the weighted average mumber of shares cutstanding duing
the period and the profit or loss attnbutable to ordinary equity holders for 2ll the effects of dilutive poteniial
ovdinary shares. There were mo outstanding dilutive ordinary shaves during the peviods presentsd in these

financizl statemeants

17, Cazh and balances with Central Bank JL1X0s AL1E04
Cash 219,104 223 913
Deposzits at Central Bank excluding obligatory deposits for liouidity

PUIposes 230940 173.711
Cheoues' recaivables — Central Bank clearing office 1.693 1.171
Incloded as cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) S01.744 393,797
Obligatory deposits at Central Bank 178.2007 208535
Cash and balances with Central Bank 679951 607.736

Obligatory deposits with Central Bank 13 a regquirement set by the Bank of Gresce fov all financial mstitutions
astablished in Gresce and squal 2%% of total customer depositz. The Bauk 15 also requived fo maintain a curent
account with Bank of Gresce in order fo facilitate inter-bank transactions tlwough the Trans Bwopean —

Automated Feal Tune Gross Seitlement Express Transfer Svstem (TARGET).
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15, Due from other banles

Cheques recaivables

Uz demand

Flacements in other banks
Feverse Bepos

Chher amsounts dus

Incloded as cash and cash equivalents (MNote 28)

Loans and bowrowings m other banks

Due from other banls

19, Trading securities

Trading securifies portfolic
Bonds izsued by Hellenmie Eepublic (Note 38)
Ornher 1zsuers

Tatal
Listed shares
Lintual funds
Tatal

Trading securities

€ Erporio Rk

J11X05 311304
4459 4510
4.330 B.623
1.271.0%0 Be2.674
59556
32218 3r.n22
1.312.087 971785
133518 125.493
1.445.615 1.101.278
J11205 311304
547277 1.334 568
232.010 485.092
779257 1.819.660
26.830 54568
- 19895
16830 T4.463
B06.117 1.5894.123
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20, Derivatives financial instroments

2112005 2112004
Fair value Fair value
Contract / Contract /
TWonmnal Momunal
value Aszets Lizhilitiss value Aszeiz Lizhilitias

a) Currency derivatives
Curency Forwards 1.220.855 - 35 1.2003548 - 2133
Curency Swaps 225659 30180 - 3E6594 - 7.554
Cwrency options G915 10 E - - -
Total 30,190 62 - 9,707
b} Interest rate derivatives
[nterest rate swaps 2117313 - 1879 2262414 s 27461
Exchange traded intevest 1ate fubures - - - 36E.0I0 - 1522
Caps 2872 25 139 - - -
Total 8= 15,919 105 42,682
¢) Index options
OTC mdex options 325515 3345 2934 19.207 144 B35
Total 3.246 1,054 144 635
Derivative fimancial instruments 336l 11576 48 53024
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21. Loans and advances to customers

Loans to individaals

Crevdrafis

Cradit cards

Tenu loans (mcluding consumer loans)
Housmg loans

Chler loans

Loans to legal entities

Business loans

Syndicated loans

State and public companzes

Loans in the form of bonds and other loans

Loans and advances to customers

Lesz: Impaimment loszes on loans and advances

Floating interest rate
Fixed interest rate
Taotal

Impairment losses on loans and advances

Changes on mapantent losses for loans and advances
Balance at 1 January

Tmpaimuent from merged companies

Impaimuent for loans

Winta-odfs

Balance at 21 December

11, Avallable-for-zale securities

Available-for-zale secarities at fair value
Bonds izsued by Hellemie Eepublic

Bonds of other 135uers

Listed shares

Mon listed shares

Miutual funds wits

Available-for-zale securities

€ Erporio Rk

1171205 311204
1,165 3156
130,748 371833
1.365.911 £94 346
4.201.324 3,360 497
139,047 135236
6.140.195 2,074,658
7452824 7.222 541
133.048 168423
148 280 400142
1.337.176 595 443
9,271.328 5.386.549
1£,411.523 12,461,237
(644.519) (615.399)
14.767.004 11,845,838
14.530.648 12.417.513
§30.875 1.043.724
1£,411.523 12,461,237
§15.390 471536
. 17.423
112 845 133351
(§3.725) (7.311)
644.519 615.399

311208 311204
2028 20 573
30.197 i
20542 16362
§.014 11,988
9600 11.527
70,351 70,005




EMPORIFI BAME 54
Ficancial Siatements — Drecember 31, 2005
Ampaets io thensands m EUED (unless ofherwise expressed)

11 Imvestments in subsidiaries / associates

The bank’s investments 1o subsidiaries are analvzed as follows:

Comntryof  ay Heldas Balancess % Helda:  Balamce as
Company incorporation st ALIL05  atAUIDOS  at3IND4  at LIS
1 EMPORIEI BANE-GERMANY GMEH. GERMANY 100,007 12,188 100,00% 12,198
}  EMPORIEI BANE BULGARIA AD. BULGARIA 100,007 12,108 100,00% 12.108
3 EMPORIEI BANE ALBANIAS.A. ATBANIA 100,007 5662 100,00% 5643
4 EMPORIEI BANE ARMENIA APMENTA 100,00% 2081
5  EMIIOPIKH LEASTNG AE GREECE 100,007 54157 100,00% 54 157
§ EMPORIEI BANE GEORGIA 5.A. GEORGIA 75,52% 1328
+  EMPORIKI BANE CYPRUSLTD. CYPRUS $1.18% 15,005 81,18% 15805
EMPORIEI VENT. CAFITAL . - L -
8 O e LT CYPRUS 100,007 5 07 100,00% 5087
EMPORIEI VENT. CAFITAL A . S i
s o IMlIen CYPRUS 100,007 5196 100, 00% 5196
EMPORIEI VENT. CAPITAL EMERGING ., . . . -
W et _ CYPRUS 100,007 15582 100,00% 15487
11 fﬁ"ﬁgﬂ WVENT. CAPITAL FUNDS CYPRUS 100.00% 5113 100, 00% 6.113
12 ELVIDAE GREECE 100,007 150 100,00% 150
S UNITED - . .
13 EMPORIEI GROUP FINANCE PLC RCEEA 100,007 134 100,00% 15
14 BANE INSTITUTION GREECE 52,907 599 99,80% 590
. RESEARCH BEANE FOR HISTORICAL S s ane: . - .
15 SDCHIVES Mon ot momiating GREECE 02,907 15 99,00% 15
16 EMPORIEI MEDLA GREECE 02,007 769 09,00% 750
17 EMPORIEI MANAGEMENT GREECE 09.65% 5,514 09,65% 6514
185  EMPORIEI BANE ROMANIA A ROMANIA 98.13% 16722 98,13% 16,721
19 THERMA EMPORIEI DEVELOPMENT  GREECE 0.01% 0 0,01% 0
10 EOLONOS REAL ESTATEAE GREECE 0.01% 0 0,01% 0
7 THERMAIEOS REAL ESTATE AE. GREECE 0.01% 0 0,01% 0
PHOENTY, FINANCIAL . .
e GREECE 40,00% 7
13  PHOENTX METROLIFE EMPORIET GREECE 39.54% 17.298 83 .48% 0
EMPORIEI ASSET MANAGEMENT S e Lo
u YR GREECE 50,007 4,300 80,00% 480D
15 ERMIS AEDAK GREECE 7170 1571 T1.70% 1871
16 TOTALCAREAE GREECE 70.00% 259 70,00% 258
EMPORIEI DEVELOPMENT AND REAL . ___ e 2nen S ie s,
ey GREECE 65.50% 38,506 65.10% 38506
1  GREEE INDUSTEY OF BAGS GREECE 38.71% 163 58,71% 153
W  EMPORIEI RENT GREECE 51.00% 3,060 51,00% 3,060
30 EMPORIEILIFE GREECE 50.00% 5,000 50,00% 500D
3l EMPORIEI CREDICOM GREECE 50.00% 12,050 50,00% 16,850
164,109 145268
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The bank’s mvestments 1n associates are analvzed as follows

FW““F "f_ Gp beld as  Balamceas % heldas Balance as

Company incorperation  at 311205 atALAL0S  atAL12A4  at3L12A4
] o GRS FRACHESE GREECE 49,00% 118 42.00% 218
1 INDUSTRY OF PHOSPHORIC FERTILIZERS GREECE 42,16% 10,052 42.16% 10.052
3 MEDLAFON GREECE 15,00% 114 25.00°% 114
4 TNCURIAM DNVESTMENT LTD CYPRUS 20,00% 767 H0,00% 767
5 ICAP GREECE 0,00% 5,000 H0.00% 5000
6 EULER HERMES EMPORIEI GREECE 15.00% 570 15.00% 670
T CHARALAMEIDIES DAIRIES CYPRUS 0,00% 5 650 0.00% 5 650
12 489 11439

The restruciuring plan of the “Industry of Pheospheorie Feartilizers” was approved i the special Sharsheldsrs
(reneral Meeting of the company, which was held at 10 Jamuary 20068, The restructuring plan is aiming at
turnming the company o a profitable corporation. Considering this, the Bank 25 being cue of the company’s
shareholders and fundmg mnstiution, decided to support the plan.

The movement 1n the mvestment portfelie 15 summarized as follows:

Investments in subsidiaries Investments in associates
311205 3111104 311205 3111104
Openmg balance 245268 450273 22439 15356
Addition 23414 §1.284 - 7.133
Feduction [4.483) {229.702) -
Impairment - (56.587) -
Clesing balance 164.199 245.168 21459 22.459

DCropimg 2005 the Bank sold its participations of the subsidiaries "Emporiki Bank — Georgia 5A" and "Emporiki
Bank — Armenia CI5C"
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34, Intangible Aszets

1 January 2004

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Met book value

21 December 2004
Cpening net book value
AdditionsThsposals
Change in depreciation
Closing net book value

21 December 2004

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

31 December 2005
Cpening net book value
AdditionsThsposals
Change in depreciation
Closing net book value

21 December 2005

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Software

50840
(30.189)

20.651

20651
6.033
(11.261)

15.415

56875
(41.450)

15.415

15.425
773
{5.000)

11.193

57648
(46.450)

11.193
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15, Property, plant and equipment

Building: and Oiher
leazehold tangible
Land P Tovelments azsets Total

1 January 2005

Cost 169 304 93521 152 849 416.074
Accumulated depreciation - 10679y (L06.T96)

Net book value 169.304 83,921 46.083 309278

Period 31 December 2004

Crpening net book value 169 304 93521 45053 300273
Additions Thsposzals 136 5.238 12,693 15.0ET
Change in depreciation - {2683 (10584 (13.273)
Closing net book value 169.440 96,490 48.162 314082

2] December 2004

Cost 169 440 98179 165542 434 161
Accumulated depreciation - {26800 (1173800 (1200650
Net book value 169.440 96.490 458.162 314.092

2] December 2005

Crpening net book value 169 440 96490 48142 314082
Additions Thsposzals [104) (5405 15541 10030
Change in depreciation {2331 (15237} (18.268)

Closing net bool value 169.334 B5.754 47.766 305554

2] December 2005

Cost 169 334 93774 181083 444191
Accumulated depreciation - {30200 (133317 (1383377
Net book value 169.334 53.754 47.766 305554
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16, Inuvestment property

Building: and

Land equipment Total
1 January 2004
Cost 48939 35.027 B4 016
Accumulated depreciation - - -
Net book value 45,959 35027 54.016
Period 31 December 2004
Opening bock value 489389 350X E401e
Additions’ Disposals 21361 (1.173) 20.183
Changes in depreciation - (438} (436}
Closing net book value 70,350 33418 103,768
21 December 2004
Cost 70330 3313854 104 204
Accumulated depreciation - (436} (436}
Net book value 70,350 33.418 103.763
21 December 2005
Opening bock value 70330 33418 103,768
Additions’ Disposals (4 200 (1085 [3.28%)
Changes in depreciation - (83T} (E3T)
Closing net book value 66, 150 31.471 97.612
21 December 2005
Cost £6.130 32785 98913
Accumulated depreciation - (1.293) [1.253%
Net book value 66,150 31.4712 97.6112
17, Other azsets 3171205 311304
Prepaid expenses 2.15E 25842
Acemed income 61.573 T6. 798
Oiher 266623 237.390
330,394 317.130

18, Due to other banls 3171205 3171104
Borrowings from banks 1.066.3E5 687.335
Current accounts 147.120 67.833

1.213.509 755172
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19, Due to customers JL1Y0s AL1X04
Deposits from legal entities
Current accounts 1.821.916 1.235.231
Term daposits 1.353 268 1.337.371
Sale and repurchass agreemeants (Fepos) 92.291 BOB.52E
3.224.475 2385518
Deposits from individuals
Current accounts 465140 4170483
Term daposits 3E24936 31240431
Saving acoounts 7217980 7232314
Sale and repurchass agreemeants (Fepos) 3.230 300327
11.512.295 11.199.635
Chegues and remittances payable FERAE 108542
14.510.624 14.695. 105
Frxed interest 1ate 5.230.725 5.696.555
Floating mteresi rate 2.506.045 B.REE. 803
Tatal depaosits 14.736.770 14.585.163

Fixed rate deposits inchude tenm deposits and repos in ewre and foreizn curency. The remaining amounts are

floating.

30, Debt securities in 13508 311305 311304

Delbt securities 200 254 J08.TEO

Chher credis titles T3 73
290,327 J08.853

Empeorikt Group Finance PLC, a subsidiziy of Emperiki Bank A E., gmanted to Emporiki Bank A E. a loan of
totzl € 35E.TE0.000, dus inm July 2007, For the above loan Emporda Group Finance PLU, procesded at
01.11.2004 to the issuance of Motes of a nominal valoe € 400,000,000, doatng rate note (3months Euwriber <
0,30%%) and maraity 1 July 2007,

The other credit titles of € 73 thousands refer to 2 short-term oblizgation undsrtzken by Emporik: Bank A E. to
pav out the Bank bonds (nmeowmonal value plus zeorued mterest) tssued by Invrestment Bank.
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21, Orther borrowed funds 311205 311304
Subordinated notes 3148619 348082
245.6189 348.081

Empeoriki Group Finance PLC, subsidiziy of Emporiki Bank AE. granted a subordinated loan to the bank
amouniting € 34E03 1500, due in Oetober 2014, For the above, Emporiki Group Finance PLC, proceedesd on
03082004 to the ssuance of Motes of nominal value of € 3530.000.000, floatmz 1zte (Gmeonths Eurthor +

0,75%%) dus m Oetober 2014, puaranteed by Emporik: Bank AE.

22, Other liabilities 3171105 3171204
Dividends pavable 1.044 2435
Accmied expenses and defarred incomes 127.327 162.193
Oiher 330,564 227240
450,535 391574

A3, Deferred tax assets’ liabilities

Deferred fax 15 caleulated oun all temporary differences bazed on the Liability method and the expected tax rate.

Deferred fax assets and habilifies artse e

311205 3171104
Deferred tax azsets
Intangible assets write-off 2,383 6.31%
Impaimment of loans and receivables 33054 3o0al
Frowizion for the cost of submission to ETEAM 194574 196.582
Commissions recoguotion based on effective miferest ratas 6.945 10.18%
Impaimuent of investments at companiss wnder clearing process 2837 0752
Provwizion for siaff expenses 3.037 7122
Oiber temporary fax differences 14 13
149,026 168.983
Deferred tax habilities
Commissions recoguotion based on effaciive miferest ratas * - 2000
Feduced depreciation rates for buildmgs 1.544 296
1.544 1.296
Met deferred tax assets 147512 166.687

*Defarred tax aszets and labilities resulting from the recogmotion of loan's commmizsions based on an effective

nterest 1ate ave netted off in assets.
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The charge (releazs) of deferred tax azsets and habilities through the income statements 15 as follows:

V105 AV1E04

Deferred tax (income statement)
Intanzble assets variation 3724 (912}
Frowizion for the cost of submizsion to ETEAR 2008 -
Impaimment of loans and recervablaz 5947 (3.478)
Commissions recognifion based on real mterest ratas 1.245 (3.494)
Provizion for staff expanses 4 B35 (3.019)
Eeduced depreciztion rates for buildmzs 1.248 26
Change of tax ratas - 16.013
Impaimment of mvestments n companzes under lguidanon g14
(hher temporary tax differences 5 (10

19.176 5,393

24, Obligations to pension funds

The Awxiliary Pension Fund (TEAFETE) for the Bank's emplovees 1z considersd a defined benefit
plan prior to law 337172005, Under law 337172005, in which the Bank has opted for submissien, all
emplovess and pensioners that were emploved up to 31 Decsmber 2004 will not be included in
TEAPETE but will be included 1n IKA —ETEAM zand ETAT which are the awxilizry funds for state
contrel plan: and the new auxiliary fund for bank emplovess, both of which are considered defined

contribufion plans. Empleovees that join the Bank after 17172005 ara autematically imeluded m IKA-
ETEAM.

Following the provisions of the new law 3371/2005, an sconomie study was performed by 1ndependent
specialized actuaries, in order to determine the cost of including TEAPETE inte the zbove-mentioned
awxiliary funds (IKA-ETEAM znd ETAT). Thiz ecomemic study was approved by the relevant
committes of the Minizstrv of Eceonomy and Finance. The Greek zovermment has subhmitted an
amendment te be zpproved by the Gresk Parliament, regarding the results of this economic study.
According to the study the Bank s estimated to pay into IKA-ETEAM and ETAT, for itz pensioners a
specizal contribution of TEE,3 mullien Euro (upfront or within a penied of 10 vears). The present value
of the future contributions from the veluntary retirement and the prezent value of the extrz emplovess’
and emplovers’ contribution (paragraph b of article 5% of Law 3371/2003) have been taken info
account 1ntoe the ameount mentioned abowve. In addition, the Bank will be cbliged to pay additicnal
contributions compared to those defined by ETEAM regulations for emplovee: hired befors
3171272004 for the following periods and up to the date thev retire. The terms: of the payvment for the
additional contritbutions 15 not definmed by Law 337172005 and 1t 15 expected to be settled bv an
agreement between the Bank and the Mimustry of Economy and Finance. The Bank estimated that the
charge. regarding the additional confributions, in the mmeome statement of 2005 15, nearly, 25 mullion
This charga has been caleulatad by applving gradually mmereasing contribution rates, so that the future
annual charges will remzin at the same level as for 2003, It should be noted, that the astimated annual
charge 1t may be different from the one te be determined by the Mimistry of Economy and Finance.
However, the management of the Bank, based on the resultz of the economic study, the guidelines
from the Ministry of Economy and Finance and the besi estimates for the contribufion rates{which
form the basis of the additional centnibutions caleulation), concluded that the charge of 25 mullion
Euro into the income statemsent of 2005 was the most appropriate accounting treatment.

Law 337172003 allows the financial institutions to recognize the estimated cost of submizsion fo the

provisions of Law 3371720035, based on the econcmic study mentioned above. In accordance with
IFES, znd 1n particular JAS 19 “Employes benefits™ and IFES 1 “First fime adopiion of IFES” the
Bank should have recogumized 1o their financial statements an amount of € 1.4 Wl (before taxes) on
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transifion date as of | Janwary 2004 which refers to the chligations of the Bank to TEAFETE prior to
law 3371/2005 based on an actuarial study and subseguently adjust the amount in accordance with the
terms of the new law.

Bazed on the above and in accordance with TAS 1 “Financial statements™ as to the “frue and fawr
prazantzfion” and “substance over form” rules the Bank decided in order to avold z distortion of the
resultz by recognizing the original liability and subsequently adjusiing the ameount to the profit and
loss zccount, the Bank recorded against reserves as at 1 Januwary 2004 an amoeount of € 7363 mull
(before taxes) caleulated on the basiz of the oblizations towards IKA-ETEAM and ETAT which the
Bank will pay (upfront or within ten wvears). It should be noted that m accordance with TAS 1 all
companies that apply IFES may under extreme cirenmstances znd sitwations exempt from applving
certain standards by including explanatory nofes so that the readers of financial statements have the
necessary mformation to judgze that the financial statements present a true and fair wview of the
finanecial position of the Bank. The treatment adopted was considered appropriate to allow the users of
the financial statementsz a2 batter understanding of the situation as stated 1n these financial statemsents,

In case the Bank recorded 1ts obligation te TEAPETE in accordance with IAS 19 to record the events
prior to law 33712005 the net equty (after deferred taxes) for 1 January 2004 weuld have to reduce
by € 320 mullien, and € 460 million for 3] December 2004 wherez: there would be no effect to 21
December 2003 figures. In additien, net profit after tax for the 2004 would have been reduced by € 20
million wherezs the rezults for 2005 weuld have increased by € 460 mullion approximately.

The zhareholders speciz]l general meeting hald at 16 August 2005 decided to adopt law 33712005 and
proceeded to the notice of termination of the contract with the emplovee union of the Bank regarding
TEAPETE and addit Loua]l} applled to the ETAT Board of Dwectors, for submission of the Bank's
smplovess undsr the provisions of Law 337172003, Nodwistanding the rejection of the temporary
measures filed by the smploves umion (Firsi insfance court judgement, Mo B2459035), there 13 2
possibility for further legal dispute between the Bank and the emplovee unton or cther third partias
regardimg this 1s5ue

25, Confingent liabilities and commitments

a) Legal iz5ues

The Bank during the nommzl cowrse of s busmess 13 a2 defendant 1 claims from customsers and other legal
actions. According to the consuliation of the Bank's Legal divizion the ultimate dispeositien of these matters 15
not expected to have a material effact on the financial position or operations of the Bank.

b) Contingent commitments

JL10s JU1E04
Latters of guarantes 1.632 658 1.583 079
Unuzed approved credit limots 2424670 T.BE50EL
11.114.237 9.468.160

c) Pledged azsets

Pladzed zszetz as zt 31 December 2003 ameunt to 112200 (198396 as at 31 December 2004) mncluding
Hellenie Bepublic bends pledzed b the Bank of Gieece for the puaposes of tranzactions through TARGET, by
the daizvatives clesaring howse (ETESEP) 25 a margin insurance and pledged by foreign financial metitution for
funding pruposes.
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26, Share capital and own shares

Ax oat 16 Jume 2003, Empornki Bank increased its share capital by € S7.087.078 tlowough issuing and
distributing at par 17.632.196 new shares at € 3,30 sach by capitalizing tax-sxempi resarves.

DTrring December of 2003, the Bank successfully completad the shave capital increase of €397.174.410 m caszh,
The Bank 13sued 26478254 new shaves of €35 nomunal value 2t a price of €13 each, by way of nghts 13sus,
offermgz 3 new shares for every 20 existing shares. The dwectly athibutable expenses of the share capital
mcrease were deducted fom share premium account.

The share capital as at 31 December 2005, after the share capital increases mentioned above, 15 €728 132074 2n
the tofal number of cvdmary shaves 15 132,391 463

O 25 Tuly 2005 the Bank seld 5,48 mullion treaswy shares that represent 5.17% of the shave capital. The shares
were sold for EUE 2640 per shave for a tofal amount of EUER 144 mullion. The gain from the sale, net of

tznsaction costs, was transferred fo 2 special eserve (Note 37). The Bank does not have any freaswry shares as

at 31 Decemnbar 2005,

27, Dihier reserves 311305 L1204
Statutory ressrve 114,405 114 403
Waluation reszerve of available-for-sale investments 17.657 10330
Treaswry shares reserve - 44 000
Od rezerves from securities sale 241924 241524
Feserves from disposal of treasury shaves 32466 -
Oibier reserves 231611 2ed dal
678,063 675.120

Statutory ressrve and revaluation reserve of available-for-zale mvestments canneot be distributed. The remaming
Ieserves conceln fax-free reserves formed by gaims from zales of listed secunties and tax-free micome that has
ot been distibuted. In the event of distribution these ressrves will taxed with the enacted tax rate prevailing at
the wvear of distnbution. The Baunk does not have any intention to distiibute those reserves in the foresesabls
future, and thus no deferred tax has been caleulated.

The movement of the available-for-zale revaluation reserve 15 summezarizad as follows:

J11L0s 3171204
Cpening balance 10.330 1.748
Profit / (loss) from revaluation £.247 2 3E4
Fecveling to the Income Siatement (13200 -
Clozing balance 17.627 10.320
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28, Cash and cash equivalents

For cash flow puposes cazh and cash equivalents mcludes the following aceounts that have matity up to 3

months from the date of prochase.

J11204

I9E.T97
T
072785
1.334 568

3171270
Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 17) 301.744
Treaswry sscunties 219
Drue from banks (Note 18) 1312087
Trading portfolic (Note 19) 347.277
1.361.037

1.733.922

28, Belated party tramsactions

The Greek 5tate. Credit Agmicole and pension funds with parficipating mierests of 9.1%, 8 7% and 19,4%
respectively, constitute the major shareholders of the Bank. The remaimmg shares are zvailable to the equity

market.

a) Transactions and balance: with Board of Directors members

311204

2004

20,703

20.29%

JL1Y0s
Board of Directors fees * o7
7 3
Deposits 17.913
Loans 42110
63.010

103.006

*Tha fees of the non-execntive marnbers of Board of Directors amount to € 27 thousands for 2005 avd to £36 for 2004

Depositz and loans refer fo members of the Board of Directors and their immediate family members and

compantes they control or influsnce.
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b) Transactions and balanees with subsidiaries and aszociates :

Subsidiaries
J1120s 3113204
Aszsets
Chee froam banks 37571 262311
Loans znd advances to customers 338786 420 653
Chler assets 6.813 13
T21.310 691997
Liahilities
Thue to other banks HG.925 44 161
Thue to customers 313.312 100 247
Diebt securrties n 135ue 398.7ED 398.7ED
Chther borrowed funds 343 082 348082
Chher liabalitias 6.522 7514
1.133.621 ons.154
Tncome
Imterest & similar income 13502 16194
Fee & commissicn income 14 508 13125
Other gperating income 571 1.721
25.581 31041
Expenze
Interest expense & similar chargas 22734 0674
Fee & commission expense 205 o1
Staff costs a65 -
(Hher operating expensaes 12.798 27446
36.611 13333
Aszociates
I1Y0s 311304
Aszsets
Loans znd advances to customers 9,211 34.786
Liahilities
Thue to customers s10 29
Income
Interest & similar income 1.%06 1.78%
Expenze
Interest expenze & similar charges 3 -

40, Dividends paid

For the accounting vear 2003, no dividend distnibution was proposed due o losses reported by the Bank at its

financizl statements for the accounting vear 2004,
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For the vear ended 2003, Bank': General Aszembly mesting held zt Tune 2004, approved dividend distribution
of € 0,50 per share. Total ameount of € 40,633 288, was recorded on Bank™s Equity as appropriation of retained
samings.

41, Capital adeguacy

The Bank's solvency ratio 1s calculated in accordance wath PDVBOG 205392 "Defiminon of equity for credit
matrtutions 1 Greece” and PDVBOG 235796 "Solvency ratio for credit mstitutions" (modified PDVBOG
2494702 with 2 munimum ratio of 8%,

According to management of the Bank bazed cn:

(2} the financial mfermation for the Bank and Group 22 at 31 December 2005 in zecordancs with IFES,

(b) articles i Law 3300104 "Financizl inswrance, IFES and other”,

(o) the amnouncement of CEBS as of 211204 for "Eegulations regarding changes to eguity for credit
mstrhations”, and

(d) the consultation paper of the Bank of Greece as at 21 January 2004,

the Bank's solvency ratio as of 31 December 2005 15 nearly 9% for both the Bank and the Group.

In order to improve the Bank's capital adequacy the 2™ Shareholders General Meeting on 21 September 20035
decided o proceed with a share capital increase for an amount of EUTE 397 2 nmllion (rights izsue). The shara
capital imerease was successfully completed duwmg December 2005,

421, Important contracts

O 18 Oetober 2000 the French Bank Credit Agricole and Emperiki Bank sizned a Sfatezie Alliancs
Memorandum for corporation in the banking asswrance sectors, consumer credit and zsset management
sectors. Credit Agricele owo representative members in the Beard of Directers and participates mn the Bank's
mznagement. Lhe Memorandum 15 for seven vears with a right to extend.

Certain points of this agresment ave as follows:

The strategic alliance relates to banks asswrance, asset management imvestment bank and consumer credit
sectors. Without affecting the existing operations, the two groups will not compete 1 Greece with the jomt
venture.

Dhuring the term of the Strategic Memoranduwm Credit Agricole will be representad wath twe members 1 the
Board of Divectors of the Bank and will participate with one reprasentatrve in the management committesas.
The two counterparties will cooperate in matters velated to the memorandum. The Shategic Memerandum 1=
for seven wvears (mifially matures 15 December 2007 and mav exiend for thiee vears provided that the
memorzndum 15 not cancelled s1x menths prior to matuity.

Dhuring the term of the Strategic Meamerandun Credit Agricele can net sell 5. 718 4486 shares of Empeoriki
Bank which 1t acquired en 13 October 2000 from the sellers of Phoenix Generzl Inswrance and Empeoriki
WVenturs Capital unless the Siratezie MMemorandum i1z cancellad or expired or if Emporiki Bank agrees to
allow . Emporki Bank will support witlon the zudelines of the Greek law fo allow Credit Agricole to
participate in any merezse in the share capatal.

Upcn the matmity of Soatezic Memorandum sither as part of an agresment betwean the fwo parties or mn
caze 1t extends the term of the Memorandums, Emporiki Bank mayv in certam cases be obliged to pay Credit
Agricole the difference between the acquisition cost of chiaming 5718466 shares (Drachmae
24 068.765 700 or € 276 mullion) with the market value of the shares (if the second 15 lower) as long as Credit

Aprrncele taken necessary measures to maximize the market value of these shares.
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The Sgategic Memorandum contzins certain resiraintz of Emporikl Bank towards Credit Agricole such as: a)
to inform on corporate governance 1ssues and on the Bank's strategic development, b) Emporiki Bank agrees
and the Group as a whols will net suppert the participation of any third partiss (other than Credit Agricole) m
the share capifal increzase of the Bank sxcept under certain clrcumstances.

In some cazes the vielations of the terms of the Strategic Memorvandum Emporiki Bank or Credit Agricols
[depending on the circumstances) will be oblized among other maiters fo pay o the counterparty (Emperiki

Bank or Credit Azricols depending on the cirommstances) as a reimbursement the equivalent of 10 billion
Drachmas (zbout € 29,3 mullion).

In mezpect of the Srategic Memorandum mentioned above, 1nm a letter by Credit Agvicols fo Emporikt Bank
dated 23 NWovember 2003, the content of which 13 accepied by Emporiki Bank, it iz clanified that the
circumstances under which Emporik Bank 54 mayv have to pay the originzl consideration to Credit Agricols
54 are as follows:

If in the first vear following the fermmation of the Framework Agreement (either by agresment or its non-
renewal bevond December 2007}, Credit Agricole 534 decidss to sell, the zelling shareholders whe sold to
Cradit Agricole 534 the shares in Emporikl Bank 54 (Commeereial Capital and Private Equity 54 - which has
now been succeded by Emperiki Bank 5A following ifts absorpiion by Emperiki Bank 5A - and Phoenix
reneral Imsurance Company 5A) have the nght and net the oblization to puwchase the shares instially
acguired by Credit Apricols 54 (being 5.713.466 shares). If Phosnix Generzal Inswrance Company 54 and
Emporiki Bank 54 exercize such right of frst refusal, they ave requived to pay the higher oft (1) the Original
Frice (being GED 24 .06E8.765.700% and (i1} the Esference Price (being %% of the 23 Business Day averags
marke! price preceding the fransfer nofice served by Credit Agricele 3A). If however Phosnix (rensral
Insurance Company 54 and Emporik: Bank 54 indicate their infention to exercise their right of first refusal
but the sale and purchase 13 not completed by them within 30 business days, then Credit Agvicols 54 15
entifled to sell the shaves imitially zequired (bemg 5718 468) on the ATHEX and Emporiki Bank 54 has to
pav the difference between the consideration actually received by Credit Agricele 54 and the Ouiginal Price
(being GED 94 063.765.700%. Thus further oblization of Empeoik: Bank 5A was meluded in the Framework
Arreement, so that it defers the parfiss, whoe have the right of frst vefusal, on the cue hand to exercize the
right but wmmecessanily delay the completion of the transfer.

43, Bestatement of prior periods financial statements
The Bank made adjustments fo the opening balance sheet of | Jamuary 2004 and the comparative figures of 31

December 2004 in comparison with those fipures presented in the infenm fimancial statements. The adjustments
are the following:

Balance Sheet Captions DE /{(CE)
Loans and advances to customers | (37.503)
Deferred tax assets * 3958
Other assets * (3.230
Drue to State pension fund (74.327)
Other liabilities © (1.400
(107.504)
Equity
Aceounulated deficrt 107.504
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The adjustments mades concern, mamly, correction of ervors. More specifically:

1 Increzse of mupaitmment loss for doubtful loans and receivables

2 Write-off of withheld tzx from the zale of non-listed nvesmments
Comeciion of caleulation regarding the cost of submutting the Bank’s Fund mnto the state — fund TKA-

LK

ETEAM zccording fo Law 3371/2003

L e

Fecogmotion of liability that will be arize from the tax audit of 2003
Increzse of deferred tax asset az a vesuli of the above adjustments

Az a vesuli of the above adjustments, the following balance sheet captions were restated 25 at 1 January 2004
and 31 Decsmber 2004, in comparizon with those oniginally published in the inferim fAnzncial statements:

Balance Sheet captions - 1 January 2004

Loans and advances to customers
Deferred fax azsets

Chher aszsets

Crue to State pension fund

Orher lhabalifies

Equity
Aceunmlated defictt

Balance Sheet captions - 31 December 2004

Loans and advances to customers
Deferred fax azsets

Chher aszsets

Crue to State pension fund

Orher lhabalities

Equity
Aceunmlated defictt

B.a 1.:“1“_ . Restated
origimally Adjustument Balance
publizhed '
DES(CE) DESCED DEACE)
11.607.233 (37.503) 11.3659.730

264239 2858 273,197

320776 (3.232 317.544
(7120000 (74327 (786.327)
(228 B57) (1400 (230.297)

(107.204)

699 B34 107504 807.388

Balance
origimally Adjustment iesitnted
publizhed Atance
DEACE) DECE) DEACE)
12883341 (37.503) 12845 B38

260025 2853 268083

320,362 (3.232 317.130
(7120000 (74.327 (786327
(320474 (1400 [391.874

(107.204)
324 873 107.504 932370

The affect of the adjustmoents mentioned zbove, in the balance sheet caphions, 15 the zame for all the periods
prasenfed in the Bank's imfermm financial statements according to IFES. It should be noted, that the above
adjustments have no effect in the mcome statements and the cash flow statements of the inferim fAnancial

statemments.
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Aunditors® Eeport
[Translated from the originzl m Gresk)

To the Shareholders of Emporild Bank of Greece 5.A.

We have audited the accompanyving conschidated balance sheet of Emporik: Bank of Greece 5A. [the
Company™) and its subsidiaries (the “Group™) as of 21 December 2003 and the melated consolidated
statements of income, cash fJows and changes in shareholdsrs” equity for the vear ended 21 December
2005, These financial statements set out on pages 5 to 39 are the mesponsibility of the Company's
management. Our responstbility 15 to express an opinton on these financiz] statements based on owr audif.

We conducted owr audit in accordance with Gresk Auditmz Standards, which conforms to Intemational
Standards on Aunditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perfoim the audst to obtain reazonable
assurance about whether the financizl statements are fres of material musstatercent An audit includes
examining, on 2 test basiz, evidence supporting the amecunts and disclesures m the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the zccounting principles wsed and sigmificant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financizl stztement presentation. We also asseszed the
consistency of the mnformation included in the Divectors” Feport. We believe that owr audit provides a
reasonable basis for ouwr opinton.

In our opinton, the accompanying conschidated financial statements present fairly, m all material respects.
the fmancial position of the Group as of 31 December 2005, and the results of itz operations and cash
flows for the vear then ended in accordznces with Internztionzl Financtal Beporting Standards (TFES™) az
adopted by the BEuropean Unmion and the information meluded in the Directors’ Fapeoat 13 consistent with
the financial statements.

Without qualifving owr opincon, we deaw attention to (3) note 36 of the financial stztements with respect
to the accounting treatment that the Company adopted in relation to the lability arising from the adoption
and mplementation of Law 33712002 (Social Secuntty Eegulation of Banking Institutions) and (b)) note
47 of the fSnancial statements, with respect to the modification: made on the publizhed mterim fimancial
statements as a result of the completion of frst dme adoption of IFES.

Athens, 30 March 2006
THE CEETIFIED AUDITORES ACCOUNTANTS

FRICEWATEFHOUSECOOPEES

Goutis X, Vazzilios Fapageciziou P. Antonios
AN SOEL 10411 ARIS0OEL 11691
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Conzolidated Income Statement

Imterest & similar moome
Interest expense & similar charges
MNer interesf income

Fae & conpmission income
Fee & conumisslon expsense
Netl commmission income

et premiuns from insarance contracts
et claims and bexefits on insursncs contracts

Net income from insurance aperations

Dividend income

et trading rasules

Crains less losses from lovestment sacurities
Crber operating incoms

Net operafing income

Staff costs

Depreciztion & amortzation

Impaimmenrt loszes on loans and receivables
Cither pperating expenses

Total sperating expenses

Share of loss of associates
PROFIT/ (LOS5) BEFORE INCOME TAX

Income tay eypense

PROFIT/ (LO55) AFTEE INCOME TAX
Armibutable to:

Equity bolders of the Bank
Mpority mteres:

Blasic earnings per share (o Eura)

Modes oo pages77 to 131 form an iztegral part of these fnanoal siatements.

Note 1/1-31/12/2005 1/1-31/12/2004
065555 §70.503

(355.61T) (298.648)

T 609,029 572250
150.0350 151.141

(13.016) (13.902)

3 146.043 137220
156,850 212.807

(168.93T) (182.113)

12 16923 30,694
9 3.655 0.647
10 13.505 32,845
11 7.135 (25.739)
12 20.047 30.208
§26.337 787.144

14 (370.208) (472.37T)
(35.174) (39.338)

13 (118.108) (140.026)
15 (181.726) (220.597)
(T05.217) (872.049)

{6.562) (8.225)

114.558 (94,030

16 (40.390) (19.160)
73.665 (113.180)

75.072 (103.997T)

(2,304 (#.193)

17 0,80 {1,28)

€ Emporid Bank



SMPORIED BAk® 24
Consol:damd Frzancizl Stemaezts — Decsmbar 31, 2003
Ammorzzts in thocsands Euro (unless ofzarwvise axprassad)

Conzolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Cenal Bank
Treasury bills

Due oo orher banks

Trading securides

Denvanve fnancial mnsmonenrs
Loans and advances 1o customiers
Available-for-sale securines
Held-to-mataity securines
[mvestuients in non cowselidated subsidiaries
[mvestuients in associates

Intanzible assers

Eroperty, plant and equiproent
[nvestment propercy

Deferred tax asses

Income mx advance

Oiber assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities

Due to other banks
Denvanve fnancial mnsmonenrs
Due to customers

Diebi sacurnities o is5ne

Oiher borrowed fands

Die to State pension funds
Fersomnel leaving indammities
[nsurance reserves

Cuwmrent meome tax labilitias
Deferrad tax lisbilines

Oiber lDabilities

Twoial liabilities

Equity

Share Capital

Share premminm

Less: Treasury shares

Oiber reservas

Acowoulzted defici

Fiasulrs for the period

Minority inferesis
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL ITABILITIES AND EQUITY

Noie 31 December 2HE 31 December 204
18 728120 §42 TTE
14 12350 33 E60
10 1148 704 S15.441
i | 1.055 278 1220024
17 301 240
13 15632511 13495024
14 11227 Q0 E40
15 25642 32.603
16 2672 2001
7 17762 21285
18 20154 26463
| 3T1.E56 375710
10 116548 125 820
40 251161 271.E25
3305 15206
a1 281 154 435 080
200017628 15,746 960
17 1.279 863 B0G.512
12 22008 55024
13 14920 308 14928224
4 309 803 06421
15 340157 347087
A6 TRE 32T TRE 327
17 32263 32122
A8 553653 4774673
186583 12932
40 5078 5460
10 555716 447 455
15 930461 152903 246
42 728.153 485435
371497 272183
- (1327830
G891 477 07001
(T EET (TRE.E54
15072 (1039497
107 442 411 55
14722 31 E1%
1.087.164 453714
200017628 16,746 960

Modes oo pages 77 o 131 form aw integral part of these financial statements.
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Conzolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Carremcy
Ghaze Tremary erazzlasiza Accnmolaced Minerity
Skars capeial premiom  share: diffarsace: Crber raaariaa dafici TOTAL szieraciz TOTAL
Balance 5= at 1 Japoary 2004 (2s it
has been onigivally puslizhed in
inferim financial siatemenis) 420658 178382 (140.73T) (14.628) 1531 (66073 E1LIE 62.338 681.587
Adrastments - - - 1378 033 (112882 (101.563) {1412 (102977
Restared balazce 2y ar 1 Jannary 2004 415458 1TE3ED (140.73T) (11245 TIEE4D  (TBLTI1)  S106E3 61.927 578.610
Available-for-sale valuaticn - - - - 2550 - 1 - 1500
Lias for the year - - - - - (1038387 (103.997) mlsdy (113180
Prior year {2003) dividends - - - - - (40683 (40.6B3) - (40.633)
Other 2003 approorations - - - - 14370 (1431 {82 - 35
Tmmiletion diffsreeces - - - D328 - - R3E 134 11642
Chazge of participating intarsests in
absidiaras - - - - - - - 1585 1085
Incrazss of paricipaiizg tzwrest in
rabsidars: - - - - - (1L0TE (1L.078) 15.673 4593
Alarger by sbsomdon FROTT (EXy (32 - (TL.0T0 ILOTD 48338 [HEEET (1549
Trancfars bafwaes russmves - - - @27 4117 - - ]
Sale of treasury shasus - - L1174 - - (2387 ETET - £.787
Balamce 2 ac 31 Deceenber 2004 455437 171083 (1317e3) {2.821) ERROIT  (ROD.O3L) 4ILERF 31818 453.714
Balance as at 1 Janoary 2008 [as it
has been onigivally puslizhed in
interim financial statements) 435435 171183 (131783 {5.300) SRER (TRERIDY  F1RASE EERE ] S56.600
Adrastments - - - 1378 033 (112882 (101.563) (1412} (102877}
Restared balazce 2y at 1 Jannary 2003 455437 17103 (131793 {1820) ERRRI1  (BRDOEN) 4T1ERM 31819 453.714
Available-for-szle valnatien - - - - B488 52 g 1 £.006
Prafit for the vear - - - - - TIST:  T28TD (1304} 73668
Trmlation diffsreeces - - - 3133 - - 2133 J{H 5.138
Chezge of 2ccocuzting reatment in
Ezvponis Cradicom and Emporiki Lise - - - - - - - (13367} (13.867)
Lasposal of s=beadiznes — Emporiki Sank
(eorzia and Astiks Hesels - - - - - - - {1.032} {1.031)
Share capital inreaze through
capifalization of resaTves BT0ET (1464463 - - {12.650 E0TTE (1450 - (1450
Share capital izeraass (Dec, 2007) 145631 45777 - - - S - 391.408
el of measury share: - - 13273 - (6.303 4000 1TOEN - 170.480
Balamce a: ar 31 December 2003 TIEIF 371487 - 1112 BERIES (718685 LOTL44I 14712 1.087.164

Hotes oo pages77 w131 form 2w intepral part of these financial statements.
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Conzolidated Cash Flow Statement

1 Janwary - 1 Janwary —
31 December 31 December
2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit ¢ {loss) after tax 75272 (103 c08)
Adjustment for reconciliation of period result to cash flows from operating
ivifi
Impairment for losses oo loans and advamces 118108 1=0.086
Ciorency manslatien differences 5133 0328
Amomization of lssuance expersas of dabi seoumtias and other 2ommowed funds 1 B2 -
Share of loss of associates 6562 2.126
LE6.T78 1a7.520
Mgt (ipcrease]’ decreass of operating assets:
Oblizatory deposits to Bank of Greace 12003 (141727
Crue from other banks {4828 2797
Trading secumities {lass governmsrd bonds) 124211 458116
Derivaimve fipancial imstnomenis (33770 {1073
Loams and advances to customers {net of wiie-off) (2.353.595) {1.427.227)
Diafarred fax assets 20734 6230
it assets {35084 EER
(1.046.336) (¥84.134)
Moet i it )
Crue io other banks 473351 (316.807)
Derivaimve fipancial imsmomenis (31.016) {23197}
True io Customiers 1484 e04 624
Ciorent tay labilities 172252 (2007800
Drafarred tax Labilities 308 {33T)
Crber Habdlities 154354 167.015
Minority inferesis {17097 {36.108)
628257 473 390
Total cash flows from operating activities (L.17%.318) (415204}
Cash flows from investing activifies
Changes in parmicipations in noa consolidated subsidiarnes and adustments of
Assodiates’ equity {72 T.857
Met chanze fom merger by absorpiion and fom moreass in panicipaiing interest 33241
Mgt change m property, plant amd egaipmens, meemsible 2352tz and vesooent
pTOpETTy {12658} {64.076)
Diecraase of hald po mammny secumiiies 38461 127 650
Diecrease / (ncrease) of avatable-for-sale imvestments {3437 31381
Twtal cash flows from investing activities {12.860) 165.183
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from sale of own shares 170404 8787
Payment of dhvidend {2003} - {40.683)
Proceads from share capital morease 391408 -
Proceeds from issnance of subordinated debr - TR 433
Proceeds from dizposzl of own debr securines 3650 -
Tax on share capital increase through boons izsnes {1430 -
Total cash flows from financing actvities 64098 T11.83%
Met increase/{decrease) in cash and cash egqoivalents (E24.050) 464 518
Cash and cash equivalents, 2t beginning of period Mote 233 1767 546 130502
Carh and cazh equivalents, at end of period (Note 43) 1143 466 T TAT EAG

Motes on pages 7 to 31 form am integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the consclidated finanecial statements

1. General information

EMPORIEI BAWE GROUP {"Emponik: Bank" or "Group™) provides retatl, corperate and imvestoeent
banking ss1vices, asset management and other finaneial services. The Group offers zs1vices i Greece
through 1ts network of 373 branches and abread through itz branch mn London and s subsidianss m
Cermany, Cyprus, Bulzana, Albama, and Fomana,

Emponk: Bank was established m Greece in 1907 and itz shares are histed i the Athsns Siock
Exchanze since 190% Empork: Bank's shares participate mn the Athens General Index and the FTSE
20,

The Bank’s registered office 15 at 11 Sofoclecus Sir. and its registration mumber 25 “Sociate Anonyme™

1z 606406 B/86/03.

Emponk: Bank’s wab site address 1= wanw . emiporkigr.

The members of the Board of Directors, after the Anvnal General Meeting held on 25 Apnl 2003, are
the fellowins

Executive members

recrgios Provopoulas Chznmmzn and Manzging Divector
Leomidas Zonmios Crenerzl Bdanager
Micolaos Iipeis Crenaral Blanager
Fekion Demakakos Member
Christos Bratsiakes Member
MWon-execuiive members

Bemard Dawnt Member
Jean-Lus Peiron Member
Dlemetrics Frokopion Member

Ioanms Fotopoulos MMember
Panayohs Tzakes hember
Independent non-executive memmbers

Demetmios Ercutiras Member
Marzanita Zoulorits hember
Micolaos Embeoglon Member

The Board of Directors zpproved these financial statements on 30 MMarch 2006,

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied m the preparation of these consclidated fmancial statements are
set out below.

1.1 Baziz of preparation

The conschidzted financiz] statements as zt 31 December 2003 have besn prepared m accordance with
Imtermationzl Fimancizl Reporting Sfandards (IFES), which have been adopted by the Burcpean Uniom,
and those Standards and Interpretations approved by the International Accounting Siandards Beard. In
particular, IFES 1 1z zpplied since, the pened ending at 21 December 2005, 1z the furst IFES anmual

reporting period.
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The accountmz policies for 2ll the pericds that are presented i these consolidated financial statements are
dizelased separately below. The Group early adopted, from 1| Jamaary 2004, TAS 32{revised) “Fmancial
Instrumeentz: Dizclosure znd Presentztion” and IAS 3%(evizad) “Tinancizl Instruments: Fecogiotion and
Iisazurement”. The pelicies applied regarding the financial mshoments for the periods of 2004 and 2005
are dizclosed, ssparately, below.

The Group 15 gomg to apply, the following newly 1ssued Standards, amendments or Interpretations, which
are ralevans to its operztions and will become effscive for periods beginning on or after 1 JTanuary 2006:

o 14519 (Amendment) “Emplevee Benefits™

o 1AS 39 (Amendment]) “Cash Flow Eedge Accounting of Forecast Infra-group Transactons™
#  1AS 39 and IFES 4 (Amendment) “Financiz] Guarantes Confracts”

# JFES 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures™

# IFEIC 4 “Dlatermuning whether an Amangsmment contams a Lease™

The finzncial statements are presented in Furo, the Bank’s functional cumency, roundsd to the nearest
thouzand unless otherwise mdicated.

The Group's consclidated financial statements weie prepared mn accordance with Gresk (ensrzlly
Accepted Accounting Principles (Crreek GAAF) until 31 December 2004, Greek GAAP difers in zoms
arezs from IFES. In preparnng the consolidated financizl stztements, management has amendsd cartzin
accounting, valuation and conszolidation methed: applhied n the Goreek GAAP financial statements to
comply with IFES. The comparztive figures in respect of 2004 were restated to reflect these adjustoent=.

Feconnliations and descuptions of the effect of the Tansition from Greek GAATF to IFES on the Group's
aquty and 1tz net mncome z2nd cash flows are provided mm Mote 5

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the mstonical cost conventon, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-zale financial assets, and financial assets and financial
Liabalities (including denivatrve mstruments) at fzir value through profit or loss.

The preparztion of financizl statements m accordance with IFES requires the use of certain cribical
accountg estimatas. Its also requires managemant to exercize mdgment i the process of applving the
Group’s accountmg policies,

2.2 Conzolidation

[a] Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the powsar divectly or mmdirectly to govem the
finaneial and operating polictes. The existence and effect of potantiz] vonng nights that ars cwrrently
exercizable or convernble zrs conmidered when aszessing whether the Group control: ancther enfity.
Subsidianies are fully comschdated fom the date on which confrol 13 fansferred to the Group. They are
de-conselidzated from the date that control ceazaes.

The purchase method of zccommting 13 wsed to account for the acquisinon of subaidianies by the Group.
The cost of an acouizition 15 measmred as the fair value of the assefs given, equity myhuwments 1ssued and
Liabilities incumred or assumed af the date of exchange, pluz costs directly attnbutable to the acouisition,
Identifiable aszats acquired and liabilities and contingent lhabilifies assumed in a business combimation are
mezsured mmtally at then farr valuwes at the acgmsition date, respective of the extent of any mimeonty
mierest. The excess of the cost of acquusition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable
net assets acquirad 1= reccrded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition 15 lezs than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the diffsrence 15 recogmized divectly in the income sfatement

€ Empork Rank



SMPORIEN BAK® 24
Consolidand Frzancizl Siemsezts — Decsmbar 31, 2003
Amnorzzts in thocsands Euro (unless ofzarise axprassad)

Inter-company transactions, balances and umezlized gains on fanzactions between group compenies ars
elimunatad Uniezlized loszes are alzo elimmated unless the tranzaction provides evidence of impaninent
of the assef transfered. Accommiing policies of subsidianes have been changed whers neceszsary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b} Aszsociates

Aszzopates are all entities over which the Group haz sigmoficant influence but not conbol, gensizlly
accompanymg a shareholdng of between 20% and 50%% of the voting rights. Investments in azsociates
are zooounted for by the sgmty method of accounting and are mtally recogmized a2t cost. The Group's
wvestment 1 zssociates melodes goodwill (net of any acommmilated mmpanmment loss) identified om
acquisition.

The Group's share of 1= associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses 13 recogmized in the inmcome
statement, and s share of peost-acouizifion movements In ress1ves 15 recognized In reserves. Thos
cumulative posi-zoguisiiion movemsnts are adjusted against the carrying amount of the mivestment.
When the Group's share of losses in an asseciate equals o1 excsads 1ts interest m the azsociate, including
any other unzscured receivables, the Group does not recogmize further lossss, unmless it has mewumed
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Uirealized zams on franzactions between the Group znd i associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Croup's mierest in the associates. Unrezlized losses are alzo elmminzted unless the transaction provides
avidence of an impaimment of the zszset tansfered.  Accounting policies have been changed where
necessary o ensure consistency with the peliciss adepted by the Group.

(<) Proportionate consolidation

The Group applied proporiional consolidation for the first time n the consclidated financizl smtements as
at 310 September 2005, with regards to its share in the jointhy contelled entities Emporik: Lifa AE and
Emporik: Credicomn AE. IAS 31 (inferssts in jount ventures) defines proportionzate consclidation as a
method of accountmz whereby a venture® s share of sach of the aszefs, liabilities, meome and expensas of
a jommtly contelled entity iz combined Ine by lme with simular items im the venturer’s fmanecial
statements. [AS 31 asserts that this method of zccounting 15 neceszary in order to captme the substance
and sconcmee reality of a venturer’s mmterest m 2 jointly controlled antity.

The apphcation of proporfionate consolidation means that the balance sheet of the ventwrer mchudes 1=
share of the assets that 1t controls jointly and its share of liakalities for which 1t iz jointly responsible. The
meccme statement of the venturer includes 1ts share of the Income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entify.

1.3 Foreizn carrency transzlation

[a) Functicnal and presentation carremcy
The consolidated fmancial statements ars presentsd in the functicnzl and presentation cwmrency of te

Group, the Euo,

(b Tranzactions and balances

Forelgn cwrency transactions are translated mto the fumectionzl cwmrency using the exchange rates
prevalling at the dates of the tramszctions. Forelgn exchange gains and losses resulfing from the
settlement of such transzctions and fom the nanslation at yvear-end exchange rates of moneiary aszsts and
liabalifies denomunzted 1 forelgm cwrencies are recogmozed m the mcome statement.  Transzlation
differences on monsiary itemes, such as equities held a2t fair value dwough profit or loss, are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on monetary items, such as equities classified
as avatlzble-for-zale finamcial assets, are includad 1 the fair value reserve 2z of | Jamuary 2004
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(c] Croup companies

The results and financial positon of all the group entittes (nome of wlhich has the cunrency of
bypermflzticnary economy) that have 2 fimctionz! cumency different from the presentation cwrency are
translated into the prezenfation cwmrency as follows:

[1} azsets and habolities for sach balance sheet presented are translated zt the closing 1zte zf the
date of that balance sheet;

(2} meome and expense: for esach income statement zre franszlated at zverage exchange rates
(omless tlis zverage 15 not a reazonable approsimation of the cumulative effeet of the rates
prevailing on the tanszction dates, 1 which case incoms and expenszss are translated at the
dates of the franzactions); and

(31 all resulting exchangs differences are recogmized as 2 separate component of equity and they
are racycled to the Income Statement on the szle of the antity.

On consolidation, exchanze differences arizsmz from the franslation of the met mwvestment in foreign
entities, and of bomowmezs and other cmrency nshuments designated as hadges of such mrvestments, are
taken to shareholder=" equity. When 2 foreign operation 15 zold, such exchange differences are recognized
in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on zals.

Crocdwill and faw value admstments arismz on the acquisition of a foreizn entity are treated as zssets and
liabilities of the foreizn entity and translated at the closing rate.

1.4 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative fnzneial mshuments erther for hedsing puposes o for hading purposes and
on behalf of customers. The Group uses the following denvatives: OTC and exchange traded aptons,
futures, miferest rate and cumrency swaps and forwards.

Devatives are mitially recoznized at fair value on the date on which 2 denvative contract 15 entered into
and are subsequently re-meeasured at their faw value, Fan valuss ave obtammed fom quoted market prices
i aciive marketz, including recent market transzctions, and valuztion fechicgues, :f markes prices avs not
availzble. Changes in the fair valee of derivatives are recognized 1n the income sfatement.

The Group designates certzin derivatives asz either hedges of the farr value of recogmized azsets or
Liabilities or fum commmbments (fair value hedgel o1, hedses of lughly probable future cash flows
attributable to a recogmized azset or hability, or a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedze) or for a net
mrvestmeant in 2 foreizn subsidiary.

The Group documents, af the meeption of the tansaction, the relationship between hedzmz instmuments
and hedzed tems, as well az 1ts 115k management objective and shategy for undertaking vanous hedze
tramsactions. The Group zlso documents its asseszment, both at hedse meeption and on an ongoing baszis,
of whather the derivatives that are uzed 1n hedsing t1znsactions zre highly effactive in offetting changes
m fair values or cash flows of hedgad rtems.

1.5 Interest income and expense

Interest meome and expense are recogmized m the conzolidated mecme sfatement for all instouments
mezsured at amertized cost wsing the effsenve mierest mathed and meludes all fees znd pomts paid or
recerved between parties to the confract that are an miegral part of the efective misrest rate, ransaction
costz and all other premiums or discounts. Inferest and simular meome mcludes intersst income from
loans and advances fo customers, interest income from fixed and floating mierest-bearmz securities and
alzo premivm or discount ameatization of mainly, Greek Govermment bonds and of other financial
mshumments.

The Group doss not 1ecognize Interest income on non-perfmmng lons. Interest meome for these loans
are racorded n off balance sheet accounts unt:] they are considared performing.
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1.6 Fee and commission income

Fess and commmcssions are generally recogmzed on an accruzl basiz when the service has been providad.
Loan comummmoent fees for loans that are likely to be dizwn down are defarved (together with related
divect costs) and recopmized as an admstnent to the effective intevast 12te on the loans.

1.7 Financial aszets

The Group classifies ifs fnmancial assets in the followmes 4 categonies. Management determines the
elazsrfication of 1ts 1vestmants at tnitial recogrotion znd rezssess at reporting periad.

(a) Financial aszets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financizl aszets held for tading, and those designated at faw value
through profit oo loss at inception. A fmancial zssef 15 clazsified in thas category, 1f acqguured principally
for the puposze of selling in the short term o 1f 5o desigmated by management. Denvatives ave alse
categonized as held for ading wmless they are designated a2z hedges.

(b Loans and recetvables

Loans and receivables are non-derrvative financial assets with fixed or datermunzble payments that are not
quoted 1 an actrve market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a
debtor with no mtention of fading the veceivable. Leans melude onginated loans and do net include
acoured loans,

(el Held-to-maturity
Held-to-matuity invesimnents are non-derivative fmancial assets with Sxed or determomiable payments and
fixed meaturities that the Group's management has the positive intention and abality to hold to maboiny. As

at 31 December 2005 the Group had hmuted held to matmity securities, which primanly concemed state
bonds.

() Avalable-for-zale
Available-for-sale tmvestments are thoss intended fo be held for an mdefinite period of time, which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity o1 changes in imferast rates, exchangs rates or equity prices.

Purchases and zales of financial z2szets n categories (a), (o), (d) above are recognized on settlement date —
the date that a financial asset 15 delmvered to or by the Group, which for held to maturity assets and
avatlzble for sale sscunities meludes Tamzaction costs. Loans and advances (categoay b) are recognized
when cash 15 advanced to the boarowsrs.

Available-for-sale financial zssefs and financial assefs at faor value thoouzh profit or [oss are subsequently
caried at fair value. (rains and losses ansing from changes 1n the fanr value of available-for-sale fimancial
assefs are recogmized dwectly m equty, until the financial assets 13 derecogmzed or impaned at wlach
time the cummlative gain or loss previously recogmized in equity should be recoginzed i profit or loss.
{Fams and losses anzing from changes m the fair value of the "financial assets at fair value through proft
or loss" categoay are meluded 1n the meome statement in the period in whech they anze.

Loans and recervables and held-to-matmity irrestments are cammed at amortized cost using the effective
mmterest method less mopanment losses. These assets are examined for mmopaiment losses which 15 when
the present value of expectad cash flows discountad at the effsciive rate 15 less than bock valus.

The fair values of quoted 1nvestments n active markets ave based on cument bid prices. If the market for
a finanetal asset 13 not actve (and for unbisted secunfies), the Group establizhes faw value by uznng
valuaton teclmigques. These melude the use of recent arm's length transactions, discounted cazh flow
anzlysis, and other valuation echizoues commonly wsed by maket participants.
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The Group aszsesses at each meportmz peniod if thers are mdications of unpanment For equuty
mzhuments clazsified as avalable-for-zale such mdications exist when the hedge 15 a prelong decline in
the fair value compared fo cost. If such mupanment exists the remaiming amount 1 equity 15 transferrad
to the income statemment.

1.5 Off zetfing financial instruments

Fmancial aszsets and habilities are offset and the net smoant reported in the balance sheet when-
a} there 13 a legally enforcezble night to offset the recogmized amounts znd
b} there 1z an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the assat and settle the habilhity simulianeously.

1.9 5ale and repurchasze agreements

Securtties seld subject to repurchase agresments (Crepos”™) remain as azsets mn the financial statements; the
counterparty Liability 15 meloded n “amount: due fo other banks™ or “deposits due to customers”, az
appropriate.

Securities purchased undsr agresments to resell (Mreverse repos”) are recorded zs loans and advances to
other banks or customers, as appropriate and the securities are not shown in the financizl statement. The
difference between sale and repurchase price iz freated as miterest and acerued owver the life of the
agresments using the effective mtersst method.

1.10 Impairment of financial azsets

Aszets with an mfinite wseful lifs and are not depreciated are azsessed for tmpanment losses at each
balance sheet date or whenever there 15 an indication that the reporting balance 13 non recoverable. Aszetz
that are deprecizted ars tested for mnpaniment loss when thers 15 evidence that the book valus 13 not
recoverable. The recoverable amount 15 the largest amount between famr value lass selling costs and valee
m use. In estimating the recoverzble amount assefz are classified in smaller cash penerating umits.
Imparment loss when incurved 13 recogmizad to the mmcome statement,

The Group asseszes at each balance sheet date whether there 13 objective evidence that 2 Ananecial zzsst or
group of financial assefs 13 impaired. A finmancial asset or a group of financial assets 15 impaired and
impanmeent losses are incumed 1if, and only if, there 1z objective evidence of Impairment 25 2 result of one
or more avents that ocourred after the mutial recogmztion of the aszet (3 “loss event™) and that loss event
[or events) has an tmpact on the estimated future cash flows of the fnancial zszet or group of fimancial
assets that can be veliably estimated Ohbjective evidence that a financial aszet or group of assets 1=
mpatred mehides chservable datz that comes to the attention of the Group about the following loss
avents:

(1) sigmficant finzncial dificulty of the 1ssuer or oblizor;

(11} a breach of contract, zuch as 2 default or delinguency in interest or prmcipal pavmoents;

(1i1)}the Group granfing to the borrower, for economue or legal reazons welating to the borrower’™s
financial difficulty. a concession that the lender would not otherwize consider;

(1v]) 1t 15 becomung probzable that the borrower will zo bankiupt or will follew 2 Snaneial resouctormg;

(v} the dizappearance of an active markeat for that financial azset because of financial dificulbes;

[vi) observable data mdicating that there 15 3 measwable decreasze i the estimated future cash flows
from 2 group of financial assets since the mefial recogmifion of these assets, although the decreasze
canmot vet be identified with the individuzl finaneial zszets in the group, meluding:

- adverse changes in the payment status of bormowers in the group; o
- nztienz] or local economue conditions that correlate wath defaults on the assets m the zroup
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The Group finst assesses whether cbjective evidence of impaitment exists mdividuzlly for financizl zssefs
that are mdividually sigmificant, and mdividually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually sigmificant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impanment exists for an
mdrvidnally aszessed financial asset, whether sigmficant or net, it includes the asszst m 2 zZroup of
financizl aszetz with similar credit nsk charactenstics and collectrvely aszesses them for mopairment.
Azzets that are mdividually assessed for impammment and for whoch an mmpanment loss 1= or confinmes to
be recognized ave not mcluded in 2 collective assessment of mpairment.

If theve 15 objective evidence that an impanmeent loss on an asset or 2 group of assets has ccowred, then
the carrving amount of the asset 15 reduced through the use of an zllowance account and the amount of the
loss 15 recognized n the meoome statement. If 2 loan or held-to-matuity wvestment has a vanable inferest

rate, the discount rate for measunng any impairment loss 15 the cwrent effective inferest rate determined
under the contract.

For the pwpozes of a collective evaluation of imepamimment, financial aszats ave grouped on the basis of
similar credit misk characteristics for Gooup exposure.  These charactenistics (finamcial, historeal,
geographical sector) are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by baing
mdicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all ameounts due zccording to the confractuzl terms of the assefs
being evaluated.

If, m a subsequent period, the expected cash flows change then these are recorded as 2 gain or loss to the
meoie statement.

1.11 Imtangible aszets - Software

Acqguired computer software licenses ave capifalized on the basis of the costs incumed fo acguire and bang
to use the specific software. These costs ave ameoitized on the basis of the expected useful lives (three to
five wears). Costs aszociated with developing or maimtaining computer seftware programs are recognized
a5 an expense as mowmred.

1.12 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant ands equipment is stzted at historical cost less depreciaftion and impaimment loss.
Histericzl cost includes expenditure that 15 dwecily atfnbutable fo the zequisiion of the ifems.
Subsequent costs are mmcluded m the asset’s canving amount or are 1ecognized 25 a separate assef, as
approprizte, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the ttem will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measwed reliably. All other repairs and mainfenance are
charged to the meome statemeant during the financial pertod 1 which thev are incwrred.

Land 1z not depreciated. Depreciation on other asszets 15 caloulated using the staight-line method to
allocate their cost to thew residuzl values over their estimated uzaful lives, as follows:

Description Years
Buildings and leaseheld
Improvements 4 to 50
Computer Hardware Jtod
Vehiclas i 7
Purmtme and equipment o7
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An azset's carrving amount 13 written down immediztely to 1ts recoverable amounst 1f the aszet's carrving
amcunt 15 greatar than its estimeated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on dispesals arve determomed by
companng proceeds with carrving ameoumt.

Trese are meluded 1 the ncome sfatement.

O transition date to IFES {1 Jamaary 2004) the Group valued land and buldings at fair value based on
professional valuations. Thos fawr value was considered as deemad cost

1.13 Investment property

The Croup classifies land and baildmzs that are not uszed for operztionz] pmposes or are held fo
vestment paposes (renfal income or capital appreciztion) as Investment property and reccads them at
amcriized cost less mpanment losses. The Group depreciates imvestment property durmng it= useful lifs,
whech iz estimzted 2t 40 to 50 years. On transiton date to IFES (1 January 2004) the Group classified
mvestment property at fair value as determined by profeszional valuators. Fan value was considerad asz
their desmad cost.

114 Leaszes

(a] The Group as leszee

Leazes of proparty, plant and equpmeant where the Group has substantizlly all the 1n:ks znd rewards of
ownarship are classified zs finance leazes. Fimance leases are capatzlized at the inception of the lease at
the lower of the fan value of the leazed property o1 the present value of the minironm leasze payviments.
Each lease payment 15 allocated between the liability and fimance charges o0 as to aclieve a constant rate
on the finance balance cutstanding. The comresponding rental cbhlizations, net of finance charges, are
melnded n other long-term payables. The intersst element of the finance cost 13 charged fo the Income
statement over the lezse pariod.

Property, plant and equipment zoqured tmder Anance laaszss 1= deprecizted over the shortsr of the uzaful
life of the asset cr the lease term. Lezses whers z sigmoficant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownarship are retamed by the lessor are clazsified as operating leases. Fayments made under operating
leases (net of meeniives recerved from the lessor) ave charged fo the Income siatement on 2 straight-line
baziz over the pericd of the lease.

(b} The Group as lessor

Whan assetz are lezsed out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payvments s recogmzed az
a recelvable. The difference between the gioss rsceivable and the present value of the receivahkle iz
recogmized zs uneamed finznce meome. Lease meome 13 recogmzed over the terme of the lezze wsing the
net mvestment method, which reflects 3 constant peniedic rate of retun.  Asseis leased out under
operating leases are included in propesty, plant and souipment m the balance sheet. Thew are depreciated
ovar their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with simular cwned property, plant and soquipment.
Fental incone (net of any incentrves given to lessees) 1s recogmized on a straighi-line basiz over the leaze
termn,

215 Insurance activities

a) Provizion for insurance claim

FPraovizion for unzettled claims

Ax z result of noamal opsrations of the Group inswrances compzames, oblizations or outstanding clamms
oceur, mest of which are delaved, due to thewr nature or are under legz! proceedings. Spectalists along
with legal counctl, whers considered necezsary, determome the settlement of these claims and the faor
value of any habilines of the msurance companies,
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This provision is defermined on a file-bv-file basiz, baszed cn suppeoriing evidence and fzken inte account
divect claimes and third party fees such as lawyers, cowt and judicial expenses.

b) Becognition of income

Inswrancs premium fees are recogrozed as incoms during the period of the inswrance contract (shoit term
Iifs contracts and contracts for settlement of claims). For long term hifs confracts meomes 15 recognized on
1zzue of the confrzet and the relevant expense 15 recogmized by the methed of technical reserves.

¢} Beinsurance contracts
Eeinsurance contracts are contracts issusd by one msuwrer to compensate losses on cne or more contracts
1ssued by and the msuer.

d) Unbundling of components

The Group meurance companes 1351e Investment confizets on 3 unit lnked basis or 3 defined acquisiton
fund — DAF. The fair value of 2 wut Ik fmd 15 determiined by the owrent net price of a wmt which
reflects the fair value of the asset limked fo the fund fime, imes the number of the uncts held by the 1zsuer
on a balance sheet date.

The fau value of the labiity of DAF iz determuned by the contnbutions made less acguisifions or
amcunts settled plus investiment income from the use of the asset during the pened.

&) Asseszment of provizion

Provisions are zccounted for in accordance with IFES 4 based on the level of provisions less defmed
acqusttion costs (DALY, Current discomited cash flows ave wsed less doect expenses. Future cash flows
are dizcounted using vield cwves. Any ameounts that are mesufficient are deducted from DAC and 2
comresponding lability for the risk 1= determuned. Any DAC deducted cannet be replaced.

1.16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the puwrposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash eguivalents comprise balances wath less than
three months” matunty from the date of acqmsiton, meleding: cash and non-resaicted balances with the
Bank of Greace, treasury bills and other ehigible bills, loans and advances fo banks, amounts dus from
other banks and short-term govemmrent securities.

117 Provisions

Provisions for resmuciunng costs and legal claims are recogmzad when:
(1} the Group has 2 present legal or constuetive obligation 2 2 result of past events;

(2} 1t 1= more likely than not that an cutflow of rescurces will be requred fo zettls the chligation;
and

(3} the amount has been relizbly estimated.
1.18 Emplovee benefits
(a) Short-term ohlizations

Shert-term cbhlizations to emplovess in cash or other non-menetzry items are recognized 25 2n expense on
an acciual basis.
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(k) Post employment benefits

The Group has both defined benefit and defined confribution plans. The confributions zre recognized as
emploves benefit expense when they avs due.

The lzbility recogmized n the balance sheet n respect of defined benefit pension plans 1 the present
vahue of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan aszats, together
with zdjusteents for wrecognized zetuarizl gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit
obligation iz caleulated amually by independent zetuanes using the projected umit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation 15 determomed by discountmg the estimated fuhwe cash
outflows using mterest vates of Gresk Government beonds.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in zetuanzl assumpiions are
charged or credited to income over the emplovees' expected zverage remaining working lives based on
the comider approach for 10%% of defined bensfif oblizations. Fast-zervice costs are recognized
mmediately o meoome statemment, unlsss the change: to the pension plan are conditional on the
amplovess remaimng m service for a specified pertod of tme (the vesting period). In thes case, the past-
service costs are amertized on 2 straight-line basiz over the vesting period.

Upcn the date of publishoing these conselidated financial statements Emporiki Bank has an ausiliary fund
[TEAPETE) which has been submutted to law 337172005 "Capital market and other laws" 25 explained in
note 36

(c) Employee termination bemefits

Employves termmation benefits are paid when emplovess leave pror o retrement. The Group recovds a
Liability when it 13 obliged to pay an ameount zccording to a detailed employee scheme or when there ars
motrves for vohmtary termmation. Long-term employviment schemes are discounted.

In caze the amount 1= not known precisely, termuination benefits are recognized a5 a contmgent liability.

2.19 Deferred tax

Dieferved tax 15 provided in full, using the liability method, on tempeorary differences arising betwaen the
tax bases of assetz and lhabilifes and thewr canying amomis in the consolidated financizl statements.
Defernved fax i1z determuned wsimg tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantally enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected fo apply when the related defemved tax asset iz realized or the
deferred tzx lability iz zattled.

Dieferved fax assets are recoguized where it 1z probable that future taxable profit will be availzble azamst
wlhech the tempovary difference can be utihized Defaived taxes are presented separately as assets and
Liabzlities and ave not offset.

Income tax pavable on profits, based on the applicable tax law, 15 recogmzzed as an expense mn the period
m which profits arize. The tax effects of mcome tax lozses avallable for cany forward are recogmized az
an assef when 1t 15 probable that futme taxable profits will be zvailable agamst with these lossas can be
ufilized.

2.20 Debt securifies and ather 1z3mez

Diebt secmifies and subordinated debts of the Group are recogmized mitially at fair value, bemmg their 1ssue
proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of fansaction costs mowred. These are subssquently
mezsured a2t amortized cost; any difference between proceeds net of fransaction costs and the redemption
value 15 recogrnzed o the meome statement over the penod of the boarowings usmg the effective interast
method.
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2.21 Share capital and own shares

Incremental costs dioectly attmbutzble to the 1zsue of new shares or options or to the acquizihon of a
business are shown 1 equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Direcily atmbutzble costs of
Lszumg shares for the pupose of zogquiring an entity are mchoded in the cost of the acquired entizy.
Ceonsideration paid for treasmy shares 15 deducted from tofal shareholders' equity umtil thew are cancellad
or zold. Where such shares are subsequently sold or retsswed, any consideration received 1z included in
shareholdsrs" equity.

2.21 Fiduciary activities

The Group commmeonly acts as fustess and in other fiduciary capacities that result i the holding oo placing
of aszetz on behalf of mdividuals, trests, retirement benefit plans and other mstitutions. These assets and
meome aizmg thereon are sxcluded from these financial statements, as they are not asssts of the Group.

2.23 Belated-party tranzactions

Belzted parties mmclude compames for whoch the Group sxerts simmificant influence, Beard of Duectors
members and thew close famoly members. The Group enters into transactions with related parties in the
uzuzl courze of 15 business.

2.24 Spzment reporting

The business segmeents 13 the prmary repoifing format of the Group. Taking infe considsration the
Group’s ntemal reporting swvstem znd organizational structwe, the following repeoitable buziness
segreents have bean 1dentified:

#  Eetzil banking

*  Coiporate bankingz

¢ Insmance and asset management activities
*  Tovestment banking and Treazury

*  Other
2.25 Comparatives

Where necessary. comparative fi=ures have besn adjasted to conform fo chanees iIn presentation 1n the
cument year.

A. Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies
The management of the Group makes estimates and assmophions that zfect the reported amounts of
assets and hzabiittes within the next financial vear. Estimates and judzements arve contimually evaluated

and are bazed on histonical experisnce and other factor, meluding expectations of futwe events that are
believed to be reasomable under the cowoumstances.

(a) Impairment on loans and advances

The Group reviews 1tz loan portfolios to assess lmpahment at least on 2 quarterly basis. In determning
whether an mapanment loss should be recorded m the income statement, the Group makes judgements az
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te whether there 15 any observable data mdicatmz that thers 15 2 measurable deciezse in the estimated
future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrezse can be ideniified with an mndindual loan
that pertfiolio. Thos evidence may melude observable data indicaiing that thers has been an adverse chanze
in the paviment status of bomwowers m a group. or national or local economic conditions that comelate with
defaults on zssefs n the group. Management uses estimates basad on ]J_s'cm:: al loss experience for assets
with cvedit 1=k charzcteristics and obective evidence of mupanmeent sinelar to those i the poatfolio when
scheduling itz futmre cash fows.

(b7  Fair value of derivatves

The fair value of financial inshuments that are net gueted 1 active markets are determuned by uzsing
valuation tE._].'l.I‘.'IJ.qIJ.-E;- Where valuztion techmigues are uzed to detenmine fair value, they are validated and
pertodically reviewed by qua]Jred persomnel indspendsnt of the area that craated them. All meodels are
certified before they are used. and models are czlibvated to ensuwre that outputs reflect actuzal data and
comparative matket prices. To the axtent practical, medels use only obssrvable data, however areas such
as credit 1izk (both cwn and counterparty). velatlifies and conelzfions require mranzgsment o make
astimates. Changes mm assumptions about thess factors could affect reported fawr value of fmancial
mstruments.

(¢} Impairment of avallable-for-sale eqguity investments

Tne Group determunes that available-for-sale sgquity mvestments are impaied when there has besn a

sigmzficant or prolonged decline i the fam value below 1ts cost. This determmation of what 13 sigmficant
or prolonged requires judzement. In making this udeement. the Group evaluates amonz other factors. the
noamal velatility m share price. In addition, mupanment may be approprizte when there 15 evidence of
deterioration 1 the ﬁuau—::la] hezlth of the investee, Jnu:lu'*.:rj. and sector perfonmance, changes In
technolosy, and operational and financing cazh flows.

(d} Due to state pension funds

The estmaztes, judzements and zssumptions, concemung the lizbilites 1o 5iate pension funds are
ilhiztrated in WNote 36,

(e} Imnvestments im azsociates

The estimates. judezemenfs and asswnptions, concerne the mvestments In associzfes are illastrated in

Mote 27,
(fy Income taxes

Esztimates are racuired for the incoms tax caleulztion, since the Group c-::-mpan;'es are subject to Income
tax n different coumtnies. Tax esfimation 15 subjective due to the nature and the volume of fansachons n
the nonmzl comsze of the Group busmezs. The Group recogmizes habilities for anhicipated fax andit 1ssues
based on estimates of whether additional taxe: will be due. Where the finzl tax outcome of these matters
15 different from the amounts that were mitially recorded, such differences will impact the ncome tax and
defarred tax provisions mn the period inwhich such deferminztion 13 made.

4. Financial risk Manazement

4.1 Financial rizk factors
The Grcmp activities are related with financial mstument 1izks and rsks fom devivatives. The Group

recalves depositz fom custommers for different fime intervals offering fixed and floating rates. Theze
funds are imvested fo azclueve higher than the average offer rate. To expand this zpread the Group
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recaives short-terms depositz and offers lugher rates for lemz-termn lizbilities mammtziming adeguats
Ligudity coverage for z2ll possible obligations that may ocour.

The Group i1z exposzed to vanous risks such z: credit, lguedity, cash flow and fair value risk from the
change m rates. the generzl 1i:k management pelicy for the Group 1z focused on confrenting the
uncertamties of financizl markets and fries to moimimize any negative effects to the profitz for the
Group. The Group uses finzncial dervatives such as futures/forwards and interest rate swaps to hadze
these 1izks.

Fizk manzgsment apart from credit rizk i1z maintained at a central level adapting te regulations and
decizions made by the Aszet Lizbiliny Comumittes (ALCOY). Cradit 1k manzgement 15 governed by the
Credit Comrerttes that defines the credit nisk strategy znd momitors s progress. Fisk Management
defines, estimztes and confronts all financial rizks in cooperation with the depariments that ars involved
with these rizsks. The MManagement gives mstuchons and gmdelines for central rizk manazement and
special mnstractions for confronting special 11:ks such as foreign sxchange, mterest and credit risk.

Caszh flow hedging and fair value hedging for changes in interest rates,

Operating meome and cash flows of the Group are affacted by the change m intevest rates. The Group
m zeveral cases 15 exposed to floating rates loans and enters into a imterest rate swap (IRS) to hedze
caszh flows on future mterest paymeents that rezult in convertmg floatng leans to fixad.

IES conmzets allow the Group to convert long-team exposure from fleatme to fixed at a lowsr rate from
o nception. Through IES the Group agrees wiath ifurd parties to swap at a notional ameunt the
primarily difference between floating and fixed.

Interest rate rizk iz from long-term loans. Flozting rate loans expose the Group fo cash flow risks. Fixed
rate loans expose the Group to fair value rizks. It is the Groups policy to have approximmately their
entire lozn portfolic with flozting rates.

4.1 Credit risk

Credit nsk 1z the loss from the 11:k that the counterparty will be unable to pay amoummts o full when
due. In zecordance with 115 credit scoring pelicy the Group can estimate the credit nisk for each lozn
category and estimate the exposure to credit 1isk.

From experience, management 15 able to carefully manage the credit rizk it 15 exposed to by 1szuing
cradit polictes.

It applies an imtemal credit srading for coaporate entifies, small and mediim size entities. This madel
haz been improved and iz econtinuzlly reviewed witlun the context of policies, procedures and
repayvment bahavior of the counterparties, so that the Group will maximize the benefit from 1tz wse. The
new model 13 based on classifving loans in delay by collateral coveraze.

Bazzad on the same model the Group already connects the customer grading with the credit risk exposed
within a vear by industiy.

Cencerming the monitering znd management of concentration risk, the Group developed a mew svstem
of Limts per mdustry. This system iz based eon the rating of industhies according to their dymamic

characteristics and on the measurement of optimum diversification of the loan pertfolio.

Fegarding retz:] loans, the Group can assess the credit scoring systems in use and by modifymg then
data can, precizely, estimate the credit rizk by customer and mummize that rizk. In crder to quantify
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credif risk and estimate the possible loss the Group has developed methodeologies bazed on the payment
behaviors of customers.

In addition the Group has developed a system for zllocating impairment losses of portfolio loans. This
svstem caloulates an estimation of the possible loss for the followme vear based on lostorie trends and
it 1z uzed to evaluate the qualify of the credit portfolio. Impaimuent losses recorded cover all lozses fov
the Group.

Emporiki Bank iz in the process of developing new risk management pelicies, so that the Group
procedures comply with the new Basle I framework.

4.3 Marlket rizk

In 2005 the Group developed and improved 115 mternal risk manzgement policy. The maximum value at
sk (VaE)} for the trading portfolio 15 estimated through historicz]l simwlaton on 2 daily bazis. In
addition it uzes the Monte-Carlo methodology. This analysis 13 performed for sach market sk factor
[nferest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and marke! 113k} and 15 confitmed through back festing and
stress testing. In 2004 the Group adopted an mwvestment strategy in high quality international corperate
securities.

The averaze credit rating of this portfolio by the end of 2005 was A according fo Standard & Poor's.

Wit the context of the Group nisk management policy, the Bank during 2005 imcludsd Fhoinix-
Matrolife in 1tz systems and, m the future, 1t will include the subzidianes in the financial sector. In
addition, it submitted to the regulatory autheritzes (Bank of Greece) for the cernfication of the infermnal
rizk estimation mode] (WVAR) so that if can substitute the currently applisd standardized methodology.

4.4 Foreizgn currency risk

Foreizn cumrency risk 1s the risk from the change in value of 2 fimancial instrument asset or lability as a
result of changes in cwmency rates. Forelgn cwmirency sk fom transactions mm foreign cunency 15 a
rezult of a leng or short open posiiion expozing the Group to foveign exchange 1skz. These 1isks may
alzo result by fmding aszets 1 one cumvency with a different cumency or through forward confracts or
by option derdvatives. This rizk 15 alse driven by the net sguity of subsidiaries with 2 presentation
currency other than the Eure. The Group covers thes 1isk as s funding 15 o 2 large extent the same
cwrency. Lhe Group dees transactions mn forelgn currencies to cover customer neads or to hedge itz
open posttions, The Group's nsk management menitors fransactions based on limuts approved. The
Group maintains limits in order fo contrel the fellowing:

[a) Cpen positions in a currency (long or short per curency).
b} Total megative exposures.
() Mmoo loszes (On a dalvimenthly or anuaal basis).

The fellowing tables show the foreipn cwreney exposwrs of the Group. Thess tables present assets and
Lizbilities per cwrrency. In addifion the nofional amount wsed to hedge the currency risk 15 also shown,
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31 December 2005

ASEZETS EUR U5l EP CHF JPY Qicher Tatal
Cash 2= balances witk Cenmed Bank T0IA9 1569 37 18 57 2101 T28.120
Tresary kills 515 - - - - 11420 12328
Dras Srom ofier banks TIZESE  1%048S T0IET 1748 4308 100328 1.140.706
Trading secerisies 1043157 12003 - - 0 &7 L0z5177
Digrivative Eoancizl inscumends Ja0l% - - - - - 34018
Lowzs and sdvances o costomans 14501628 711861 X672 117.7E] 4305 218528 15632511
Avadable-for-saks sacunse ER.3T] 12343 - - - 57 112272
Etald-to-maturity securicis el - - . - - 18642
Irvsstmeets i nom cozealidased sxbaidiangs LY ¥ - - - - - T
s EneEts W 2aociatms B.505 - - - - 0263 17770
Intzzgible assats 15.101 - 4 - - 5040 0154
Property, plant and equipmeni 364 BE] 405 iE - - fi.442 371856
Irvasement pooparty IIEHE - - - - - 116.548
Dafuroed fax aepets 151117 - - - - i1 151161
Income tax advancy 3123 - - - - 182 3305
CHher asseds <78 65+ 1437 3E] 138 1 1456 481.165
Todal azsees 18.356. 00 1010184 SE667 11%.748 47353 375450 20.017.625
LIASILITIES EUE UED EF CHF JPY Ocher Total
Crow bo oebier bz e i TEIET 6353 103,257 10784 fi.684 1.278.863
Diarivative framcial instruments ILETE - - - - i IZ008
Chow b customsrs 12970159 R 4400 4711 a0z 413 352131 14.020.308
Dight seoarities in isses 359 503 - - - - - N0 B03
Cher bemered Bxds 45 157 - - - - - 340157
Ctow bo State pansioz funds TREIIT - - - - - TBA.327
Parsormsl keaving indumnitias 305383 - - - - 1.2 32265
[Inearance reserves 333633 - 553633
Currsnt income tax lighilites 16321 - - - - i 16.583
Diafiamad tax Babitas 1735 - - - - 43 577
CHber Eabdtin I8 11788 LEMD GE {16.38<1 2708 555,716
Total Bsbilime: 16743006 PR ETE 1T 118047 SEN 363,143 18.930.461
Net equity 1611167 11516 {4067 1702 (5554700 12316 1.087.164
0ff balamce sheet tems (501 406) 6730 - - 557.785 35.454 1170
31 December 2004 EUE U5 EP CHF JPY Ocher Tatal
Total 2eats 17241 638 B4 408 59431 B2 587 56T 305155 18.746.960
Totzl lisbilises 16,326 033 SILETD 107730 1638 315686 347.268 18203 246
Nt pquity 16 8> 46616 {8.200) (9072 (450,013 (42134 453714
0ff balamce sheet items {£27.421) (L1670} S5 (B4.257) 461230 45,704 1R85
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4.5 Interest rate rizk

Inferest rate 1izk iz the nsk for changes in the fair value of finzncial msfruments and fo nmet misrest
ncome for the Group 25 a result of changes in interest rates. Interest rate 113k 15 a result of the deferral
1 admsting azsets and lability items to inferest rate changes.

The Group uses the PVEBP methodology (Present Valwe of a Basis Pomnt) to measwe control and
manage mnterest rate. PVEBF meazures the effect to the fair value of financial mstuments and to the
profitability of the Group for every change by 1 basis poant (0,01%) to the vield curva.

The Group's interest rate risk i3 from retail banking and iz wsually funded by the money market There
15 though a2 small volume of fransactions n fixed rafe bonds and ntevest rate forwards compared fo the
zize of the Group’s balance sheet.

The Group uses FVEBFP: a5 2 measwrement of exposures in crder to conmol:

{(a) Total mterest rate exposure by maturity.

{b) Tatal inferest rate exposwe per currency (mamly Euro, GBF, U5SD and Awstralian Dollar).

{2} Total intersst rate sxposure.

The Group measures 1fs nferest rafe exposwe z: the maxmmum loss as a2 resuli of changes n inferest
rates. These changes are based on historic datz and thocugh stress scenanes. It should be noted that the
Grroup measures 1ts inferest rate exposure fo count the maximum loss within a reasonable inferval.

The following tzbles show the interest rate exposure. These tables prezent the book value of zszet and

lLiakality items for the Group caftegonized by the mminmom between the date that rates change or when
the financial assef or hability maturas.
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EMPORIED BANEK 34
Consolidated Frzancial Statemsets — Dacazatar 31, 2003
Amorzts in thossands Eura {unless oftamdse axprassad)

31 December 2105
Imeerest risk

Tptel 13 312 13 oo incerest
ARSETS mozth manths mamtis TEATT Over 5 vears Earins Toesl
Cask apd belances wth Ceantral Bank 333837 - - - - 332233 T28.120
Troasury hills IELS 267 5176 - - - 12358
Cua fron: oftar banks EEIETT 166.446 106.266 3TET Az 152408 1148706
Trzding securiiies 440 0547 TR 43051 14157 132764 1.055.278
Carnrativs finzncial imsmasnsnts olg - - - - 33103 34,018
Loans 2=d advamces bo casborsars ATH0N 3158878 1876666 1851 405007 {636.01%) 15.632.511
Avrailable for sade secumties &2l B.E03 0518 §it - 2L.017 112271
Hald-to-maremsy sacurtios - L~ 350 - IBIZ - 28.642
Imvesimams iz non consalidated subsidiaric: - - - - - 1671 1672
Imvesimemds ie zssociass - - - - - L7768 17.768
Intangible 2swsts - - - - - FIAT 20.154
Proparty, plant 2=d equipzsnt - - - - - 3TLES 3T1.856
It mant pragarty - - - - - L1548 116.548
Cufarred tex assals - - - - - 231161 251.161
Incoms 2ax advance - - - - - 3305 3.305
Ctzar asals 4333 2060 587 - - 471878 481.164
Total musets IO EesEF 3436174 2100575 1.373.302 GERETD 1.452.000 20.017.625
LIABLITEES
Cus do other baoks e 386785 151.882 07 183D 27730 1278 863
Curnativs finamcial i=stnemnsnts 13740 - - - - g.262 27008
Cus do coslomem: L6181 1328367 20R4 744 44 575 - CE.3ee 14,020 308
Cubt securiies = tasup - R - - - 309 803
Dtzar borrowsd funds . 340,006 - - - 151 348157
Cuw to S22 pazsion fimds - - - - - T86.327 THE.32T
Porscees] lezvizg mdemettios il - - - - 3113 31265
Insurezce mEIvEs - - - - - 353653 553,653
Otar lizbilies G504 11.482 1 i - 533.814 555.716
Carzsod incomoe tax abidites - - - - - L8.583 16.583
Cufarred f2x Lzbalites - - - - - 5.778 5778
Teal linbaligizs 11084584 2476423 1146617 48.810 1E3D 1061178 1B.930.461
Netimrerest rRfe eTpotUTE (1198 6E&) 250,751 [36.052) 1324482 Gti6 549
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EMPORIEN BAKK 34
Consolidated Fizanciz Stabamsats - Dacaztar 31, 2007
Amocer=% in thersands Euro {unlesy ctharmtse axprassad)

31 December 2004

Uptal 1-3 311 1-& Moo imterest
ASSETS monih months  months YEATS Ower Svears  bearing Total
Cask sod belamoss with Comtral Bank 154 - - - - 01254 EUTTE
Treasury hills 12078 1.113 20580 - - - J3eae
Cus from ocher bazks S0l 134377 127,087 30532 140 £17.854 FlE44
Trnding securitias 13554 3230 135877 711411 477805 443,007 185
Curivabive fipancial msmsnsnts 45 - - - - B 145
Leans 2=d advances o castomers (oet of
allovanca) BEI4TE 2037078 1078341 TERA10 514460 (GI01L0F  134%s0M
Arrmilzble for sals sacemtios 1917 4.552 £.065 2 11.461 37083 SRR
Hald-to-maremity securitias - . . - 30.087 21516 31 &
Invurtments ie poe consoludated subsudanies - - - - - 2401 4551
Invusiments in asseciztes - - - - - 31266 11286
Intangible st - - - - - 26463 16 465
Proparty, plant azd squipmsnt - - - - - ITERTI 372718
Invrstment propecty - - - - - 128368 1185
Cofarred tax 25sais 45 - - - - 171.04% 1TLER
Incoms fax adhrazce - . - - - 16.806 15 5008
Dekar asials 1.282 1848 - - - 440570 g 0E
Toral nasets P15 2433836 148394 1.551 463 L.054.043 1.038.340 IR 746080
LIABILITIES
Cus 1o othar banks 313235 25090 136672 5081 16646 14.659 2
Camrvative finamcial izeirements 33024 - - - - - 33004
Cus fo cristomars 15042 LORLITT 2108104 k124 3.BRS 133413 14808004
Cobi cacurites i= i - e84 - - - - 34T
Ciebar borrowsd funds - MTOET - - - - J4TAET
Cus to S22t¢ peosion fnds - - - TB6.327 - - TEEIXT
Perscozsl lezving indezsties Tl - - - - 30051 311N
Insure=ce mserves - - - - - 471673 4TTET3
Oekar ligbilises 5623 AEE 13 B2 - 431417 HTASE
Crarmunt incomns tax Eabiditias - - - - - 12832 11932
Cofarred tax Hakdlisics - - - - - 7445 458
Toral liakalizies T EET 400 2049372 1265881 RE2 446 0531 1107614 15293 148
Jer interest rute exposuTe (1.725.108) 404.454 113083 GER.010 1.033.512
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EMPORIED BANK 34
Consolidated Fizancial Statemsets — Decazobar 31, 20035
Amscee=ts in theeaands Eurs (unbass oftarwise axprassad)

4.6 Liguidity rizk
Ligudity risk 13 the rizk from the gzp between the matrity of azset and habality items. Ligmdity nsk
axpresses the danger that the Group canmot fulfill its obligafions i the future Som gaps betweesn

finanecial mstnuments o1 fransacions.

The Group mezsures this 1isk and controls 1f by using a developed higuidity menagement that has
various confrols. The Group adheres to hguidity restraints authonized by the regulatery authonties
locally and abroad as well 25 fo internal limots,

The Group controls and manages liquidity 1isk throughout the period by using the followmse:
[a) Minnuum rezerve balance a3 defined by the Bank of Greece.
b)) Ligmdity indexes defined by the regulatory anthenty (Bank of Gresce) and mtemally.

The Group’s operations abroad adherve to hgmdity roles defined by the Bank of Gresce and local
regulatory decisions.

The following tables depict the assets and liabality ifems of the Group by mahuity as at the reporting
date.
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EMPORIED BAKNK 34
Consolidared Fizanciad Stateroszts — Dacazotar 31, 2003
Amocee=ts in thosands Furs {unlass oftamidse axprassad)

31 December 2005
13 312 1.7
Up o ] month monihs months VTS Ohveer 5 vears Totsl
Cash amd balancss with Ceomal Bank TIEIN - - - 72811
Traasury bills L1613 340 4317 KRNI 12359
Thie from oter banks TTREAS 153,620 230 54217 di434 1.14%.796
Tradizg secmrtias §03.770 150,813 17002 102.15% R 1025278
Deivattse finzzcial insounqnis 33611 - ieE - 34.01%
Loems and sdamces So cussomees (net of
allewazca) 3150269 1478857 1830428 4.004.742 4335335 15.632.511
Avaalabls for sals securites 35313 - 11343 4817 112271
Heold-so-meaturity sactmties - - 15442 18642
Irrsamoess o non cozsolidated
subsidianas 7 - - - Pl 1671
bErvssiments in aasociabes - - g 17781 17,764
Ivtangible 2smts 13 - b 1770 1238 0154
Proparty, ple=t and equipasr 1B - 14 17504 44270 371856
TIrrgaaeeS procarty - - 1151 114208 116.548
Dpfurred tax ascats - - 4 151137 151 161
Incoow @ advance 182 3085 1 - 3.3035
Cithar assuls 204802 LIE.643 114.611 16,130 JE4ET 481164
Tadal azeds 5586711 1.806.238 1876.368 4 586266 5 107 831 2.017.625
LIARILITIES
Thue 3o ober banks 1EE.00Z 154.347 54433 13121 L7L.662 1279863
Deivattse finzzcial insounqnis T2.008 - - - - 22008
Thue %o customess L.ExDAS2 160187 L2584 204 274.365 G470 50 14929 303
Db sacurtia in meos - - 380203 . 339 803
Oiibar beoerowsd funds - - - M5 15T 348157
Dhie %o Seat pezsion fumds - TE.E33 4531 353 183 T86.327
Perronne] leaving ixdamnisin - 1220 18412 47 31265
Incurancs resnes - - - - 353653 533,653
Oithar Eakalitues WRme 1034028 T8GR E0.100 1ETY 555716
Crezre=t incomos cax liahilies e 14512 1.727 - 16.583
Dedurred t2x Eakalines 1544 £as 543 1387 5778
Tatal liabilicies AR BT3.626 2150800 1810581 1955530 18.930.461
Met equity [493.184) Liazela 713568 1ETEETE [LESE 400 1087164
13 312 1.5
Up to ] monih mionihs mowths VEary Owver 5 vears Totzl

31 December TH04

Total azsets 5.1231.080 L850 282 1212818 5381700 1435454 18.746.968

Total Labistia: 4622311 1150368 1400810 TRSROLE 11785740 18,393,148

Net equiny L0ETTR #9.530 417.008 (1337.316) 12332713 453.714
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Consolidated Frzancial Srtemezts — Dieoszobar 31, 2005
Amnorzts in teoesands Euro {unless ofarmase axprassad)

4.7 Establizhment of fair values

Fair value of quoted mvestments, which are negeotizble m active marketz'siock exchanges, such as
derivatives, shares, bonds, muinz!l funds, 15 estzblished based on cwrrent ted prices walid at balance
sheet date.

If the market for a financial asset 13 not active {and for unlisted secunties), fan values are establizhed
by usmg valuation techniques and assumpions based on marke! information at balance sheet date.

£, Transition to IFRS

5.1 Application of IFES 1

The Group’s financial statements for the vear endmgz 31 December 2005 wall be the fast ammuzal fmancial
statements thzt comply with IFES. The Group ha: applied IFES 1 for the preparation of these
consolidzted financial statements.

The transition date for the Group to IFRS 1s the 1* of January 2004, the date when the "opening balance
shaei” of the Group was prepared 1n accordance with IFES. The present consolidated finanecial statements
refer te the period berween 1 Jammary to 31 December 2003, and the 1* of JTamary 2003 1= considered az
the date the Group adopted IFES.

For the preparation of these consolidated fmancial stzfements the Group has applied the mandatory

excepiions and certain of the eptionz] excephons from fill retospective application of IFES.

5.1.1 Optional exemptions from full retrozpective application of IFRS

The Group has electad to apply the following optionz] exemptions from full retvospective application:

a} Buziness combinations exception: the Group has applied the busmess combinztions sxcepion m IFES
1. It has not restated business combinations that tock place pricr to the 1% January 2004 transition date.

b} Fair value deemed cost exception: the Group has elected to measme 115 properties at fair value as at 1

Tarmuary 2004,
5.1.2 Mandatory exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRES
Devecosnition af financial insirimenis

The financiz] inshuments that were derecogmzed 25 2t 1 January 2004 will not be recognized in the future
finanecial siatements.

Bedze accounting

The managemeant zpplies hedze accounting from [ Jamuary 2004 only of zll of the criterniz requured for
hedze accounting according to TAS 39, zre met.

stimares and judeements
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EMPORIED BANK 34
Consolidated Fizancial Statemsets — Decazobar 31, 20035
Amscee=ts in theeaands Eurs (unbass oftarwise axprassad)

According to IFES 1, 1t 15 net allowed to use information, wloch has been disclosed after | Jamuary 2004
for estimations made under Greek GAAP except for cowection of evors. The Bank adjusted if=
estimations m the cases were the measurement basis was not in accordance with IFES, nsing mformation

availzble at the transition date.

£.2 Beconciliation between IFES and Greek GAATP

The following tables show the effect to the Bank from the transition to IFRS. The first schedule shows the
reconciliation of equity as at | January 2004 and 31 December 2004, while the fellowing tables show in
detail the effect to the:

Balance shest 1tems 1 January 2004

Balznee sheet tfems 3] Decamber 2004

Profit and loss account 23 at 31 December 2004
Cash flow statement as at 31 December 2004
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EMPORIEN BANK 24
Consolidated Fizancial Statemssts — Decazobar 31, 2003
Amcee=ts in thoeands Eurs junbasy oftarvise axprassad)

£.2.1. Beconciliation net equity

Conzolidated Net Equify {Greelt GAAP)
Lz Mimomty inferssis

Total met equity attributable to sharebolders of the Bank
(Greek GAAP)

Beversal of 2003 appropriations

Imtangible azsets write-off

Revaluation of property at far valoe

Impainuent losses on loans and advances

Prowision related fo State pepsioa fands

Effecove mierest rate for conaission on loacs (TAS 399
Effecdve mierest rate method for mierest on loans (145 38)
Impaiment loss of available for sale assers

Impaimeent loss on trading securities

Dervative francial azsets at fair value

Change ip degreciation ratas

Reavaluation of available-far-sale securities

Froancizl leases

Parsonne] mdsrmmities

Property tanes

Write-off of withhalding tawes from the sals of tnvestmeants

Impaimeent of nea comsolidated subsidianes {under liquidation)

Adustreenis related to subsidianies pravieusly oot consalidared

Adjustoeents related fo associated updemakings
Restatement of own shares at cost

Write-off of measury sharzs (af cost)

Cefamed tax assets r2cogmition

Deferred tam labiliies recesniiion

Criber adjustmenss

Tuwtal adjostments

Consolidated net equity (IFRS)

1 Janunary 2004

31 December 2004

e
3
8
(5)
(6)
{8

P
i

(7
7
(3

T
LEF

=
(10}
(10)

7

(11
(113
(12
(12

1.109.7T02 1.273 166
(58.382) (27.550)
1.140.221 1.245 616
41 664 i
(124113 (25.071)
100 996 (15.514)
(142.100) (127.248)
(TB6.327) (T86.327)
[21.85T) (40.757)
3.175 7003
(20.874)
(6.537) 3308
142 (386)
1.154
(25) 29
14410 15.531
(15.304) (18.240)
(7.641)
(3.232) {3.232)
(30.478)
(30.662) (44.618)
(12.788) (12.419)
15.783 13.400
(52.033) (43.859)
174 833 260 828
{5.691) (5.044)
(10.082) {12.283)
(629_637) (821.721)
510,684 421593

The above table has been restated 1o companson with the tabls presented o the inferim consolidated fnancial statements of 2005,

Eafar fo Mo 47
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EMPORIE] BANE 24
Consoledasd Fizancial Stamests — Decezobar 31, 2003

Amgzee=ts in thoesands Furo {unlasy oftarvise axprassad)

MNotes to the reconciliation of equity

(1)

(4

(3}

(4}

(3}

()

(10

(113

According to IFRS, dividends and profit appropriztion are recognized when they are approved by
the sharsholders. According to the Greek GAAP, dividends and profit appropriation are recognized
when they are proposed.

Under Greek GAAP the recognition of specific intangible zzzets 1= allowed. Accordmz to IFES,
mtangible aszets are recogmized when it 15 probable that fuhue economic benefits will flow to the
enfify.

Ou transifion date fo IFES (1 January 2004) the Group valued land and buildmgs at fair value based
on professional valuations., This fair value was considered 25 deemed cost Under Gresk GAAP,
property was revalued according o the tax law provisions.

Loans to customers and other receivables were azsessed for mdication of mpairment. Impainment
lozs was recogmzed for those loans and recervables for which the carrying amount excesded the
recoverable amount.

The Group recogmized ifs labidlity arising from the melusion of TEAPETE to IEA-ETEAM
according to L.3371/2005,

According to IFRS, directly attributable fees and commizsions, relating o loans, are 1ecognized to
the Income Statement using the effectrve interest rafte method. According to Greek GAAP, these
fees and commizsions are recoguozed to the Income Siatemment when they are recerved or incurred.

Secunties and derivatives were recogmized zecording to [AS 39 provizions. According to Gresk
GAAP, secmifties are valued at the lower of cost or market value.

The depraciafion rate, according to Gresk GAAP was determined by the provisions of the fax law.
In IFR5S, the depreciztion charge 15 recognized using the staiglé-line method over the assefs useful
lifa.

In Greek GAAF, sxpense: fom finance leazes are recogmized to the Income Statement on a
straight-line method. Under IFES, expenses from finance leases are recogmized wsmg the effective
interest rate method.

According to IFES provisions are recogmzed when there 13 a present contractual or constructive
obligation and an outflow of resouwrces embodving economic benefits 15 probable. Greek GAAP
allows the recognition of specific classes of provisions.

According to IFES shares of the parent company held by subsidiaries are treated as treaswy shares
i consclidated financial statements and they are measured 2t cost az a deduction of equity.

(12} According to Greek GAAP, no hizbility or aszet from deferved taxes 13 recogmzed.
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Consolidand Frzancizl Siemsezts — Decsmbar 31, 2003
Amnorzzts in thocsands Euro (unless ofzarise axprassad)

5.2.2 Balanmce Sheet reconciliation 1 January 2004

Effect on

Greek tramzition to

CAAP [FRE IFRS
ASRSETS
Cach and balances with Cerniral Bank 232482 {3.562) 420821
Treazury bills L5641 7Ta 16420
Dmie from oidher banks G446.008 17930 6463 047
Trading secumities 15053248 2395314
Cenvative financial imsiruments - 14z 142
Loars and advances to customers {net of allowance)® 12.030.355 177528 12207 883
Boods and other fxed incoms secumities 2132300 (2154 300 -
Shanes and other variable incomea saoumties IR2.682 (381862 -
Avatlable-for-sale secumities - 138522 150622
Held-{p-maminy sequnties - 160263 160243
Ipvesiments in pop-consolidared subsidiamies 03424 (7281, 20805
Invesiment i associaies 108 240 (378582 21535
Intarginls assets 61404 (1B9EX) 31424
Froperty, plant and egaiprsnt 539037 (151 3397 367698
lrvesiment praparty - 105865 105865
Dieferred fam agzet® - 17R. 154 178154
Income 2% advances - 1gasy 18837
Criber azzats® 433308 106 564 330054
Total aszets® 16.887 062 TAL.003 17.618 066
LIABIIITIES
D to other banks 1.280.514 31 R05 1.323.310
Dlenivadive financial instruments — labilides - 76211 6221
Cae to cusiomers 14042 682 (12380 14023 500
Cear secumities In 13sue 73 - 73
Crae o Siate pension funds* - 86327 TRE3XT
Parzonnal leaving indsmrides - 14 808 34.808
lnsuTance ressTves 14580 440 865 473754
Criber Labilifzas® 340002 (51.325) 178777
Current incorme 2y llabilitas - 15192 3392
Dieferred ram liabilides - .04 004
Total Liabilities* 15.688. 260 1352 095 17.040.355
Equity
Share capital 219458 - 420 658
Share premium 278382 - 178302
Lesz: Treasuoy shares (88935 (318023 {120,737}
Crihoer TRzervas® R 201578 T26.093
Consolidation differences (34700 347 -
Betaired profit’ (loss)* 261 [782.983) (TR TED
Total equity 1140221 (620.4637) 510653
Minominy mesrssnz® 30382 B545 G797
Total equity and minorify interests® 1.199.703 (621.082) STE.610
Total liabilities and equity* 16.857.063 TAL.033 17.618 060

*The figures per IFAS have besn restated in comparison with thesa figures presented inm the imterim finavcial

sfataments of 20035, Refer to Mote 47
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